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Overview of the year 
 
Kingdom Bank is unique in being a Christian UK bank focused on meeting the lending needs of 
churches in the UK whose passion is to proclaim the biblical gospel of the Lord Jesus Christ.   
 
Our mission is to glorify God by providing financial services which support the ministry of UK 
churches, and everything we do is underpinned by our three core values: Honouring God, 
Putting others first and Committed to quality. 

A year of helping churches grow 
Within this report and financial statements you will find the analysis and narrative which set out our 2021 financial 
results and year end financial position.  Some of the highlights are shown graphically on the previous page.  
Underlying all the numbers are stories of church buildings purchased, ministries developed and lives transformed.  
Through God’s gracious provision and in partnership with our customers, 2021 saw growth across every area of the 
Bank as we continued to help gospel-hearted churches plant, build and grow.  
 
During a period that has been challenging to the operation of church activities, we have been privileged to support 
churches as they flourish, initiate new gospel projects, and grow ministries — helped by the hundreds of Christians 
around the UK who have chosen to steward their money with Kingdom purposes by holding those funds with us.  

Lending 
Throughout 2021, we continued to help churches across 
the UK to purchase, renovate or expand their property to 
support their gospel ministry, as well as providing 
mortgages to help ministry workers buy a home.  We 
approved 68 lending projects in 2021 totalling £18.2m in 
loans, helping 21 churches to acquire or develop ministry 
properties, and 30 Christian ministers and their families 
to acquire homes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Church leader and personal mortgage customer, 
Central London 

Savings 
We are immensely grateful for the hundreds of Christians and churches across the UK who have chosen to steward 
their money to help churches plant, build and grow. In 2021 we grew the deposit book by £5.4m, and opened 256 
new savings accounts, enabling us to provide lending to those in Christian ministry.  
 
In 2022 and beyond, we are praying that more and more churches and individual Christians will see the value of 
holding their reserves and savings with us. This will enable us to continue providing the mortgages which other 
churches and ministers need to press on with Christian ministry.  

Insurance 
 
In 2021, we continued to support churches and charities 
with expert advice on the insurance they need to 
protect themselves and the people they serve.  We had 
2,558 live policies in the year, and over 98% of our 
church customers renewed with us. 

 
 
 
 

Customer who worked with the Bank’s Insurance 
Brokerage team after their church bell was stolen 

 
To enable all these projects, the Bank’s team has continued to expand.  We have been delighted to work together to 
serve the Lord through 2021 by serving UK churches with lending, savings and insurance.  Our prayer is that we will 
be able to do this even more in 2022. 
 
7 April 2022  
  

“The flat we’ve been able to purchase is bigger 
than anything we could have afforded to rent.  

This has already meant that we’ve been able to 
welcome people from the community.” 

“The insurance team has been fantastic!” 
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An Introduction from the Chair  
 
It is with pleasure that I set out the highlights of 2021 for Kingdom Bank. 

Delivery 
There has inevitably been further cost to establishing a platform of good governance, strategic leadership and operational 
resilience, and the Bank’s profitability is not expected to start to grow from its current low levels until 2023.  After adjusting 
for the £634k profit on sale of the Ruddington property, the underlying result for 2021 was a profit before taxation of £69k 
(2020: loss of £38k).  However, the Bank is now set for an upwards trajectory as it supports churches in their growth.   

This growth has started to be seen in the 2021 results.  Over the 12 months we achieved £11.7m of lending drawdowns, an 
increase of 121% on the £5.3m drawn down in the prior year.  2021 ended with a loan book of £53.8m (2020: £47.1m) – 
growth of 14.2%.  The lending pipeline grew by 125% more than in the previous year, with £18.2m (2020: £8.1m) of 
approvals, setting a strong base from which to grow in 2022.  The Bank increased deposits by £5.4m (2020: £9.9m) in the year 
to £66.7m (2020: £61.3m), with a clear focus on encouraging churches and individual Christians to place funds with the Bank 
because of its gospel partnership ethos, not just due to their attraction to its interest rates.  Finally, brokerage commission 
within the steadier insurance business decreased from £433k to £419k as explained in the Strategic Report. 

Much of the delivery planned for 2022 depends on rapidly raising the brand profile of the Bank within the UK Christian 
(especially the evangelical) community.  Plans for the year are well underway, and the Board looks forward to seeing these 
come to fruition.   

Governance 
Following the 2020 change of ownership, 2021 was a year of setting stable foundations for future growth of the Bank.  Before 
focusing on the future, however, I would like to pay tribute to two long-serving non-executive directors, Malcolm Hayes and 
Miles Buttrick, who left the Bank in the autumn. Malcolm brought wide experience of general business management, with a 
focus on insurance, and Miles, as a former CFO of a major building society, together provided a cornerstone of strategic and 
financial management to the Bank.  Their wise counsel will be sorely missed. 

With a clear eye on succession, we appointed three new non-executives to the Board earlier in the year.  Richard Ellison, CFO 
of the Cumberland Building Society, has taken over as Chair of the Board Audit Committee; Edgar Martinez, now CEO of 
Vision Fund International and previously Global Head of Credit Risk at HSBC, has become Chair of the Board Risk and 
Compliance Committee; and Ben Maruthappu MBE, CEO of digital healthcare-at-home provider, Cera, brings the Board a 
breadth of experience across marketing and technology.   

I am also delighted that Helen Lamb and Greg Brisk joined the Board in March 2022.  Helen is a HR consultant who, along 
with having a background in banking, will bring us a wealth of practical expertise in people and culture, especially in working 
with Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (“SMEs”).  Greg spent 19 years at the Bank of England and then the Financial 
Services Authority in various supervisory roles and for the last 22 years he has been at BNY Mellon where he currently acts as 
Head of Governance, Investment Management. 

Operations 
We further strengthened the Bank’s operational leadership in April, with the appointment of David Kindred as Chief Risk 
Officer (‘CRO’) to complete the Bank’s Leadership Team which now comprises CEO, CFO, CRO and CIO (“the Leadership 
Team”).  Further recruitment across all departments has bolstered the operational teams, both customer-facing and in the 
support functions.   

2021 has been a year of immense change.  We have digitised all the previously paper-based operations and moved most 
systems (other than our core banking and insurance systems) to the cloud.  We have introduced an entirely flexible working 
approach, new employment contracts, a new people-management system, and we have run the Bank remotely for most of the 
pandemic.  We changed every one of our mortgage products to make them more competitive and to better serve our market, 
and we have improved our online banking offering.  We rebranded the Bank, created a new website and launched ourselves on 
social media.  We moved out of and sold our freehold office building in Ruddington, and sourced, fitted out and moved into a 
much more suitable rented property in Beeston.  All of this (and many other smaller changes) placed inevitable strain on the 
team.  However, all the challenges were met with good humour and by a united team of committed people, to whom I want to 
express my gratitude.   
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An Introduction from the Chair (continued) 

Operations (continued) 
One change in the year has been to revisit and update the Bank’s mission statement, which now reads “to glorify God by 
providing financial services which support the ministry of UK churches”.  It is a great pleasure, and a privilege, to Chair a 
Board and oversee a team who are dedicated to serving the Lord God with such clarity of purpose.  

 
 
W D R Swanney 
Chair 
7 April 2022 
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The directors are pleased to present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Principal activities 
The principal business of Kingdom Bank Limited (“the Bank” or “the Company”) continues to be that of providing mortgage 
products, savings products and insurance broking for churches, Christian charities and individuals working in Christian 
ministry. This is encompassed in the Bank’s Mission Statement: ‘To glorify God by providing financial services which support 
the ministry of UK churches’.  
 
The Bank’s church and charity loans are focused on helping active and growing gospel ministries deliver their mission in local 
communities. The loans to individuals are primarily to provide housing for individuals working in Christian ministry, either for 
now or for the future. Lending is funded from customer deposits in a range of savings accounts, designed particularly to appeal 
to Christians and churches who would like their money to be supporting gospel ministry.  The Bank also operates a specialist 
insurance broking service focusing on delivering a bespoke service to churches and Christian charities. 
 
Review of the business 
The Bank has continued to deliver its banking and insurance services to customers during the year.  Following the change of 
ownership and increased capital investment in the prior year, the focus of 2021 has been raising the Bank’s profile and 
pursuing safe, stable growth across all areas of the business, despite some challenging market and operational headwinds 
provided by the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic. 
 
The Bank’s parent company (and ultimate controlling party) is Lamb's Passage Holding Limited (‘LPHL’).  The investor group 
of LPHL includes a number of private investors alongside Stewardship Services (UKET) Limited, a charity providing services 
to similar types of customers in the church and Christian charity sector. The investors take an active interest in the Bank’s 
activities and receive regular reports from the Board.   
 
The Bank has continued to strengthen its team during the year.  In April, the Bank welcomed a new, permanent Chief Risk 
Officer, David Kindred, completing the Leadership Team of four, and further recruitment took place across all departments 
(including marketing and business development, lending, account management and insurance) to bolster the resources for 
supporting delivery.   
 
At Board level, in the autumn the Bank bade farewell to two non-executives who have seen the Bank through its period of 
ownership transition, Miles Buttrick and Malcolm Hayes.  I want to echo the Chair's comments on the Bank’s immense 
appreciation of their dedication and service.  In advance of their departure, three new non-executive directors (Richard Ellison, 
Edgar Martinez and Ben Maruthappu MBE) joined the Board, introducing further breadth and depth of experience in banking 
risk, operational delivery and technology. 
 
The Bank rebranded and launched a new website in March 2021, providing the platform on which the Bank has sought to raise 
its profile amongst UK churches and build relationships with leaders of church networks and denominations.  All the while the 
Bank’s updated mission statement has been in mind, “to glorify God by providing financial services which support the ministry 
of UK churches”.  Whilst there are great opportunities to take the Bank forward and to see it grow, it is first and foremost the 
unambiguous and united aim of the investors, Board and leadership for the Bank to be serving Christ and his church. 
 
Mortgages 
The Bank’s long-standing specialism is commercial lending to registered charities which operate as churches, to enable them 
to grow and expand, as well as personal lending to Christian ministers.  In the first two months of 2021 the Bank completed a 
full review and revision of its mortgage products and rates, launching changes in March which ensured its lending was focused 
on serving the needs of churches with competitive rates.  
 
During the year, 78 (2020: 61) new loans were approved totalling £18,200,000 (2020: £8,100,000) and 75 (2020: 38) were 
drawn down with advances totalling £11,700,000 (2020: £5,300,000). The total loan book has increased to £53,800,000 (2020: 
£47,100,000) net of loan loss provisions.  
 
Arrears management remains a key focus. The Board is pleased that the Bank has remained well within the internal Risk 
Appetite throughout the year, and arrears stood at 0.12% at 31 December 2021 (2020: 0.56%). Through this period of growth 
in the Bank’s activities, the Board and management are committed to maintaining lending quality.  Management are investing 
in improving the Bank’s quantification of risk in the lending back book, and in assessing risk in the lending opportunities 
presented. 
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Review of the business (continued) 
 
Mortgages (continued) 
The Bank continues to expand its lending secured on residential property and, included in the totals above, this lending has 
increased in the year with £6,800,000 (2020: £4,200,000) of loans approved and £7,500,000 (2020: £3,000,000) drawn.  
 
Savings 
Savings accounts are provided for both private individuals as well as organisations on terms between no-notice and up to three 
years fixed term. Interest rates across the market continue to remain low with surplus liquidity held by many deposit takers. 
The Bank increased deposits during the year by £5,400,000 (2020: increased by £9,900,000) to £66,700,000 (2020: 
£61,300,000). The savings and deposits focus is to encourage churches and individual Christians to place deposits with the 
Bank because they believe in its ethos, not due to their attraction to its interest rates.  Indeed, in launching its ‘Gospel Partner’ 
sub-brand, the Bank is being up-front with customers, encouraging them to deposit funds with the Bank on rates which are 
typically slightly below market, but which enable to Bank to lend as affordably as possible to churches and Christian workers. 

 
General insurance 
The Bank’s insurance broking team provides a high level of customer service and tailored support to churches and Christian 
charities. Policies are offered providing protection for assets and liability risks cover. Commission income earned from this 
activity decreased to £419,000 (2020: £433,000), although the reduction can be attributed to the loss of one major non-core 
customer in 2021 and a non-recurring claims bonus from an insurer received in 2020.  Customer retention remains strong at 
95% (2020: 97%), and the conversion rate of new customers has increased to 85% (2020: 72%). 
 
Operations 
Against the backdrop of the Coronavirus pandemic and new investment, the Bank has sought to develop its underlying 
operations to support its expected growth.  Current and historical documentation moved from paper to digitised format, all 
employees moved to laptop (rather than desktop) based working, and most of the Bank’s systems moved into the cloud.  The 
business relocated from its long-term freehold-owned premises in Ruddington to a modern, rented working environment in 
Beeston, which was shaped around the priorities of employees. In combination, these changes have enabled effective flexible 
working, the opportunity to seek out the best talent from a much wider geography, and an attractive office base where the 
whole team can feel comfortable and enjoy coming together monthly. 

 
Principal risks and uncertainties and financial risk management 
The Bank regularly reviews the internal and external risks affecting the business. These risks are, where possible, mitigated to 
minimise their probability and impact. The principal risks have been identified as: capital, liquidity, interest rate, credit, 
operational and compliance. 
 
The Risk Management Framework documents how risks are identified, categorised, measured and managed within the Bank. 
All risks are identified on the Risk Register by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Risk Officer, 
the Chief Information Officer, the Head of Lending, the Head of Account Management and the Head of Insurance (“the Wider 
Leadership Team”).  The Wider Leadership Team allocates a Risk Manager who is responsible for day-to-day implementation 
of the risk mitigants and close monitoring of these risks, and a Risk Owner at Board level to oversee the management of those 
risks.  
 
On a quarterly basis the Risk Manager and Risk Owner are required to attest to the ongoing implementation of the mitigants 
and to verify there are no other changes and no new risks. Any changes to mitigants or risks will be notified to the Compliance 
Department for submission to the Wider Leadership Team. Risks are allocated an inherent risk score (impact x probability) and 
a residual score after mitigants, by the Wider Leadership Team. Risks are categorised based on inherent score as critical, 
significant and non-significant. Critical risks are reviewed at every scheduled meeting by the Board Risk and Compliance 
Committee and twice annually the Board review critical and significant inherent risks. 
 
During the year the Bank has continued to review, update and refine its Risk Management Framework in response to emerging 
trends and the continuous reassessment of risks. Key performance indicators relating to the principal risks are monitored by the 
directors through a monthly Business Performance and Risk Review report. 
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties and financial risk management (continued) 
 
Capital 
The Bank’s regulatory capital consists of shareholders’ funds (“Core Equity Tier 1”) and subordinated liabilities (“Tier 2”). 
Shareholders’ funds, comprising ordinary shares and reserves, increased to £7,500,000 (2020: £6,800,000) and subordinated 
liabilities reduced to £800,000 (2020: £1,400,000).  
 
These funds are prudently managed to ensure the Bank maintains sufficient capital for its activities. Unforeseen events can 
unexpectedly erode this capital and these events are analysed and assessed using the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (“ICAAP”). This process stress tests the business and allocates sufficient levels of capital to cover assessed risk. The 
capital is then managed against robust Risk Appetite measures for surplus capital, Core Tier 1 Capital and Leverage Ratio to 
maintain a healthy margin above the regulatory and internally assessed minima. The Bank continues to meet all the regulatory 
capital requirements and expects to continue to do so in future. 
 
Liquidity 
The Bank continues to hold a surplus of liquid reserves, as detailed in the “Key performance indicators” section of this report. 
The assessment of the minimum level for these reserves is set after careful analysis of potential withdrawals and regularly 
stress tested to ensure they are sufficient. This assessment is detailed in the Bank’s Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment 
Process (“ILAAP”) document. Liquidity is managed against robust Risk Appetite measures, including the Liquidity Coverage 
Requirement ratio, to maintain a healthy margin above the regulatory and internally assessed minima. The Bank continues to 
meet all the regulatory liquidity requirements and expects to continue to do so in future 
 
Interest rate  
Interest rate risk is the risk of adverse changes to earnings and capital due to changes in interest rates. It is evaluated principally 
in terms of the sensitivity and exposure of the value of the Bank's assets and liabilities to changes in interest rates. Analysis of 
the exposure to interest rate risk is managed carefully within the Board’s risk appetite. The Bank operates a matching approach 
to financial risk management, whereby the risk arising from mismatches in re-pricing of assets and liabilities is managed 
internally through the statement of financial position. The Bank has a maximum exposure limit of 5% of own funds for such 
potential losses in the event of a 2% parallel shift in the yield curve. The Bank also has exposure to basis risk due to the assets 
and liabilities which re-price with reference to Bank Base Rate (“BBR”). The Board has set risk appetite limits against its 
exposure to basis risk for each type of basis risk mismatch and against the sensitivity of its net interest margin to basis risk. 
 
Credit 
The Bank’s main business activity is commercial lending (i.e. credit facilities secured by real estate) to registered charities 
which operate as churches, as well as personal lending to Christian ministers.  The inherent credit risk of the main business 
activity is substantially mitigated by prudent credit policies, healthy portfolio loan-to-values, and a strong practice in arrears 
management. The loan loss provision has decreased by £160,000 comprising a net charge of £24,000 offset by utilisation of 
£184,000 on a single historic case where workout has now been completed (2020: overall increase in provision of £77,000) as 
disclosed in note 12 c). The Bank’s systems monitor all customers who are in arrears ensuring that we can help and support 
where necessary. The number of cases more than 60 days in arrears and in breach of contract was one (2020: three) and the 
total balance reduced to £67,000 (2020: £265,000), representing 0.1% (2020: 0.6%) of the loan book.  
 
Operational 
The Bank’s operational structure is well developed and stable. Operational resilience is identified as a critical risk on the 
Bank’s Risk Register and during the year the Business Impact Assessment (BIA) was further developed by the Chief 
Information Officer to include the Bank’s impact tolerances for each important business service. The BIA provides a 
documented evaluation process for determining continuity and recovery priorities, objectives and targets. The evaluation 
process includes assessing the impact that a loss, interruption or disruption might have on the Bank’s customers, important 
business services, critical processes, functions and critical suppliers, specifically those areas that impact, either directly or 
indirectly external stakeholders of the Bank. The outsourced IT systems for banking and insurance operate effectively with 
external support provided to the Bank’s own experienced staff. Security of IT systems and Cyber Risk is kept under close 
scrutiny and is regularly reviewed by specialists as part of internal audit and continues to be improved in line with the latest 
industry developments. A comprehensive business continuity back-up service is available and regularly tested. Internal audits 
and compliance reviews confirm that the operational risks are well managed through heads of department reporting into the 
Wider Leadership Team. 
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties and financial risk management (continued) 
 
Compliance 
The Bank welcomed a Chief Risk Officer to the team in April 2021, and he now oversees the day-to-day operation of the 
compliance function.  The compliance team has seen further change during the year and is set to be strengthened and expanded 
in 2022. This enables the Bank to maintain the focus on compliance, treating customers fairly and conduct risk to ensure they 
become even more closely embedded into the business. The Chief Risk Officer also acts as the Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer and oversees our management of financial crime issues.  
 
Climate-related risks and opportunities 
Governance 
The Board provides oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities through the Board Risk and Compliance Committee. 
The Board has delegated day-to-day responsibility for managing the financial risks arising from climate change to the Chief 
Financial Officer with wider climate-related risks and opportunities being managed by the Wider Leadership Team.  
 
Climate change has become a standing agenda item on the Wider Leadership Team agenda, with regular training updates. The 
Wider Leadership Team is monitoring the impact of climate change on the church and Christian charity sector, alongside the 
UK financial services industry’s understanding of climate-related risks and opportunities in order that the Bank can be 
proactive in managing risks and serving its customers.  This continues to be an ongoing area of development.    
 
Strategy 
The Bank has identified a number of climate-related risks and opportunities over the short, medium and long-term.  
 
In the short-term (up to one year) the risks relate to the transition costs of moving to a low carbon economy, notably increases 
in the Bank’s energy costs.  
 
In the medium-term (two to five years) these energy costs are expected to increase further, as are costs related to physical risks 
of climate-related events such as increased insurance premiums. The impact on the Bank’s borrowers and other customers is 
expected to be minimal during this period. 
 
In the long-term (six to ten years) the transition costs are expected to become increasingly significant including costs of 
making premises more energy efficient and increased arrears due to reduced borrower affordability as they are also impacted 
by these transition costs. Long-term physical risks are also likely to lead to reduced property valuations and, in some cases, the 
potential for negative equity for the Bank’s borrowers resulting in increased loan loss provisions. Other risks include disruption 
to the supply chain due to transition and physical risks. The climate related opportunities are expected to be modest and will 
crystallise over the long-term, such as increased commission from climate-related insurance business.  
 
The Bank’s business planning horizon currently extends to five years and, over that period, the financial impacts of climate 
change are not expected to be material. However, as climate-related risks and opportunities become gradually more apparent 
for the Bank’s market sector, they will become increasingly significant in the business planning process. The current focus 
remains to increase understanding of these issues within the business and the market. 
 
Given that the Bank is entirely UK based and so has relatively limited exposure to physical climate-related risks compared to 
parts of the world which experience more extreme temperatures and weather events, overall resilience of the business strategy 
is considered high in relation to even the most severe climate change scenarios. As part of the annual ICAAP capital planning 
process the Bank carried out stress tests which considered the Bank of England’s 2021 biennial exploratory scenario on the 
financial risks from climate change. However the impact of the scenario was less severe than the Bank of England’s Annual 
Cyclical Scenario which was instead used to calibrate the severity of the Bank’s capital stress testing. 
 
Risk Management  
The physical risks and the transition risks from climate change have been identified as a separate risk on the Risk Register with 
a significant inherent risk score. For these risks the Chief Financial Officer is the Risk Manager and the Chief Executive 
Officer is the Risk Owner. Metrics have been developed to measure the impact of these risks as described in the Metrics & 
Targets section below. In addition, the physical risks from climate change in relation to potential credit losses have been 
incorporated into credit risk, which is a separate risk on the Risk Register with a critical inherent score.  
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties and financial risk management (continued) 
 
Climate-related risks and opportunities (continued) 
 
Metrics & Targets 
During 2021 the Bank continued its internal reporting of the expected financial impact of climate change over both the medium 
term (0 to five years) and long term (six to ten years). This assesses both the estimated risks and the estimated opportunities 
from climate change. 
 
The Bank is not currently required to report greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and does not currently measure these. However, 
the Bank will continue to comply with regulatory requirements in this regard and is aware that measurement and disclosure of 
emissions data will most likely become a requirement for all companies in the future.   

 
Section 172(1) statement 
The biggest decision impacting the Bank’s stakeholders this year has been the sale of the Bank’s former head office premises 
and investment property in Ruddington, as noted in the Introduction from the Chair and the “Review of the Business” section 
within this report. 
 
The sale allows the Leadership Team to focus on delivery of the Bank’s Business Plan by serving its target market of churches, 
Christian charities and individuals working in Christian ministry without the capital requirements of owning a property and the 
distraction of being a landlord and maintaining owned premises. The decision to sell allowed the Bank to capitalise on the 
strong value of commercial property in the Nottingham area resulting in the profit on sale noted in the “Results for the year” 
section of this report. This provided additional capital to fund future lending, albeit at the expense of future rental income and 
the cost of leasing new premises. The new leased office premises have been fitted out to a high standard and have provided 
inviting and comfortable spaces for the team to return to after the end of the government’s ‘work from home’ restrictions.  
 
The Bank plans to invest further in people, technology, marketing and other growth initiatives in the next 5 years to improve 
product and service delivery to current and future customers including maintaining and developing relationships with the 
Bank’s existing partners. 
 
The Bank’s most valuable asset is its employees and the Bank has continued to build and enhance its team, through new 
recruitment as well as training and development, to support the execution of the Bank’s Business Plan. The recruitment of a 
new Chief Risk Officer and three new non-executive directors during the year is noted in the Introduction from the Chair and 
the “Review of the business” section of this report. 
 
Maintaining the Bank’s reputation with Regulators and other stakeholders has been and continues to be of paramount 
importance to the Bank. The Bank continues to undertake its business adhering to the highest standards of conduct and culture, 
as noted in the “Purpose, Mission and Ethics” section of this report. 
 
As already highlighted in this report the Bank has a clearly defined process for risk identification, assessment and mitigation 
and has identified those reputational risks associated with the sale and ensured mitigants are in place. 

 
Results for the year 
The profit on ordinary activities before taxation was £703,000 (2020: loss of £38,000).  However, the 2021 result was flattered 
by the £634,000 profit on sale of the Bank’s freehold office in Ruddington and, removing this, the more comparable 
underlying profit on ordinary activities before taxation was £69,000. This improvement in the underlying profitability over 
2020 was due mainly to the effect of the Bank’s interest income on increased lending starting to outweigh the investment costs 
of strengthening executive leadership, improving IT systems, and investing in marketing and business development activities.   
 
The Bank and its customer base have continued to prove resilient to the COVID-19 pandemic.  As noted above, the Bank now 
operates flexible and remote working as the ‘new norm’ which has minimised the risk of virus transmission internally and, 
although a number of Bank team members and their families have had the virus during the year, there has been no significant 
business interruption.  Thanks must go to the Bank’s employees, who have worked tirelessly to provide uninterrupted customer 
service delivery.   Forbearance measures were introduced for customers as appropriate in 2020, but all cases have been 
managed, and no COVID-related losses have been incurred.  The main ongoing financial impact has been sluggish growth in 
new mortgage lending, especially in the first quarter of 2021, as most churches inevitably remained focused on the challenge of 
maintaining activities through a period of changing rules and guidance on meeting.        
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Results for the year (continued) 
 
Mortgage lending increased during the year with the total mortgage book reaching £53,800,000 (2020: £47,100,000). 
Customer deposits increased during the year with total deposits increasing to £66,700,000 (2020: £61,300,000).  
 

Key performance indicators 
The Bank monitors a number of financial key performance indicators and the values reported at 31 December were as follows: 
 

Key performance 
indicator Definition 

Internal 
Risk 

Appetite 
/ Target 

2021 2020 

Core Equity Tier 1 
("CET1") ratio 

Share capital and reserves expressed as a percentage of total 
risk exposure amount (risk weighted assets plus operational 
risk capital requirement). The Bank’s regulatory minimum 
CET1 for Pillar 1 and Pillar 2A is 13.25%. 

Above 
14.50% 

16.97% 17.13% 

Leverage ratio 

Tier 1 capital (share capital and reserves plus additional Tier 
1 capital) expressed as a percentage of total exposure (i.e. 
non-risk weighted on and off balance sheet exposures). The 
Bank does not have any additional Tier 1 capital. There is no 
binding regulatory minimum on the Bank. 

Above 
5% 

9.03% 9.37% 

Liquidity Coverage 
Requirement ("LCR") 
ratio 

High quality liquid assets divided by expected net outflows 
(expected cash outflows less expected capped cash inflows) 
over a 30 day stressed period. The Bank's high quality liquid 
assets comprise balances held at the Bank of England. The 
regulatory minimum is 100%. 

Above 
200% 

1,475.9% 
1,304.6

% 

Net interest margin (as 
a percentage of average 
interest earning assets) 

Interest and fees earned from balances at central banks, 
loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to 
customers less interest payable on customer accounts and 
subordinated liabilities. Average interest earning assets is 
the average sum during the year of cash and balances at 
central banks, loans and advances to banks and loans and 
advances to customers.  

 2.63% 2.79% 2.83% 

Loans and advances to 
customers (before 
provisions) (£’000) 

Total loans and advances to customers before deduction of 
loan loss provisions. 53,601  53,959  47,438 

Loans with arrears in 
excess of 3 months 

Non-performing loans (loans and advances to customers 
with arrears in excess of 3 months) as a percentage of total 
loans and advances to customers. 

Below 
7.5% 

0.12% 0.56% 

 
The Bank actively monitors a number of additional risk appetite metrics and targets to ensure that its activities are being 
managed within the Board’s risk appetite. 
 
The Bank considers there to be no non-financial Key Performance Indicators. 
                                   

Purpose, Mission and Ethics  
In 2020 the Bank introduced a simple purpose strapline to help raise its profile as it sought to communicate simply to its 
market why it exists: 
 

“We help churches grow”. 
 
This continues to be an important aspect of the Bank’s messaging, reminding all internal and external stakeholders that the 
Bank is focused on serving churches and their growth, not its own self-aggrandisement.  
 
However, during 2021, the Bank performed a more fundamental review of the Bank’s mission statement and values, as set out 
below.  These are central to all the Bank’s activities, including customer service, people management and interactions with all 
stakeholders.  
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Purpose, Mission and Ethics (continued) 
 
Mission Statement 
 
The Mission of Kingdom Bank is:  

 
‘To glorify God by providing financial services which support the ministry of UK churches.’ 

 
Core Values 
 
The Bank has three Core Values.  These set the standard for how we work. 
 
1. Honouring God  
The Bank exists to serve the Lord Jesus Christ by serving His church.  As a Christian bank, what we do and how we do it all 
flows from our desire to honour God, not pointing to ourselves but to the Lord Jesus as we seek to serve him. 
We acknowledge our accountability before God for all our thoughts, words and actions.  We recognise before God that we 
continually fail to meet His perfect standards, and we delight in His acceptance and forgiveness and are committed to bringing 
ourselves and the Bank to him in prayerful dependence. 
 
2. Putting others first 
We serve customers in humility, making every effort to put them before ourselves, designing straightforward products and 
services to meet their needs, and always treating them with respect and honesty, whether or not they are present. 
We are pleased to submit to our regulators with openness and integrity, recognising that they are authorities put in place by 
God.  We treat our suppliers and other external stakeholders fairly and honestly.  
Within the Bank we encourage each Team member, Christian and non-Christian, to grow and develop within their role; to 
grow in their understanding of the Christian faith, as set out in the Bible; and, we pray, to grow in their knowledge and love for 
Jesus Christ as their saviour and Lord. 
 
3. Committed to quality  
We place great importance on the application of best practice in business ethics, including trust, integrity, fairness, respect and 
openness.  In our working together as a Team we encourage transparency, honesty and holding ourselves accountable to each 
other.   
We provide financial services responsibly, in particular providing a secure home for customers’ deposits and only lending 
where we consider it to be in the customer’s best interests. We always seek to do the right thing under God in every situation.  
Within a hard-working environment, we prioritise setting time aside with God for reading the Bible, prayer and collective 
worship. 
 
Outlook for 2022 
 
Following its acquisition by new owners on 31 March 2020, the Bank commenced a period of investment in people and 
systems, with a view to generating increasingly profitable growth over the next five years and beyond.  Significant ongoing 
expansion in lending will be dependent upon growth in the capital base, and this will be driven by both reinvesting the Bank’s 
profits and anticipated injection of further new capital. 
 
The Bank’s investors have given informal commitment to support the Bank’s additional capital needs.  On 31 January 2022, 
they provided a further £1.8m CET1 capital, with the Bank issuing 1,800,000 ordinary £1 shares at par to LPHL.  This will 
support the planned growth in lending over the next year and beyond. 
 
The direct impact of Brexit, and the end of the transition period, on the Bank is minimal due to almost all of the Bank’s 
customers, suppliers and other key stakeholders being located in the UK.   
 
Raising of brand awareness and the development of trusted relationships with leaders of church networks and denominations 
continue to be the twin focus of marketing and business development activity.  These activities are expected to drive growth in 
the savings and deposits business, providing the Bank with the liquidity it requires, as well as the demand for lending itself.  
Likewise, the insurance brokerage business will continue to benefit from a higher brand profile amongst UK churches.   
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Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 

Outlook for 2022 (continued) 
 
Maintaining strong governance and oversight, with appropriate skills and experience, remains an essential part of the Board’s 
plan.  With this in mind, the Bank was delighted to be joined by Helen Lamb and Greg Brisk as non-executive directors in 
March 2022.  With a background in a major UK bank, Helen brings a wealth of specialist experience in People and Culture, in 
particular as applied to SME businesses.  Greg spent 19 years at the Bank of England and then the Financial Services Authority 
in various supervisory roles and for the last 22 years he has been at BNY Mellon where he currently acts as Head of 
Governance, Investment Management. 
 
Overall, the Bank’s five year Business Plan is founded on pushing ahead with steady, well-controlled, risk-managed growth 
across all three core business areas, run by a skilled Leadership Team and overseen by an experienced Board.  Alongside this, 
the Leadership Team and Board will continue to consider whether there is more that the Bank should be doing as it seeks to 
provide financial services for churches, Christian charities and individuals working in Christian ministry, with the overarching 
aim of serving the Lord Jesus Christ by serving his church across the UK. 
 

COVID-19  
 
As noted above, the Bank and its customer base have proved resilient in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic during 2020 and 
2021, and there are no early indications of concern in 2022. Please see the Directors’ Report on page 14 for further 
information.  
 
Operationally, the Bank’s remote and flexible working approach is now embedded within the culture, and it provides 
significant operational resilience by limiting the risk of intra-bank viral transmission which might result in a failure to deliver 
customer service.  When team members have been working in the office, lateral flow tests and rigorous hygiene procedures 
have become standard practice. 
 
In terms of the Bank’s customers, measures to prevent transmission of the virus during 2020 and 2021 included the closure of 
places of worship and other public meeting venues.  This had an immediate and ongoing impact on the Bank’s core customer 
base, frequently reducing both income and expenditure.  Church services and other gatherings moved from physical to virtual, 
and many churches now provide an ongoing online presence alongside a gradual return to physical meeting.   
 
During 2020 the Bank received 73 requests from borrowers to agree temporary COVID-19 related payment holidays or other 
short-term forbearance measures, and these were managed satisfactorily.  We are pleased to report that, by 31 December 2021, 
all COVID-19 related forbearance arrangements had been concluded with no loss to the Bank.   
 
The directors have considered the measurement of assets and liabilities in its statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2021 which might be affected by the ongoing COVID-19 situation and any related post balance sheet events.  Their assessment 
did not reveal any events that require adjustment to be made to the financial statements.   
 
Approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
P R Houghton  
Chief Executive Officer 
7 April 2022 
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of Kingdom Bank Limited, a private company limited by 
shares, company number 04346834, for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Bank is based in the East Midlands and its 
registered address is given on the Company Information page. 
 

Future developments 
The Bank’s future developments are set out in the Strategic report including the Bank issuing 1,800,000 ordinary £1 shares at 
par to LPHL on 31 January 2022, raising an additional £1,800,000 of CET1 Capital. 
 

Country-by-Country Reporting  
 
Name, nature of activity and geographical location 
The Bank is in Nottingham in the UK. The registered office address is Media House, Padge Road, Beeston, Nottingham NG9 
2RS. The principal business of the Bank continues to be secured lending to churches, charities and individuals working in 
Christian ministry. The church and charity loans are focussed on helping growing Churches and Charities to deliver their 
mission to their local communities. The loans to individuals are either for similar purposes or to provide housing now or in the 
future for individuals working in Christian ministry to grow God’s kingdom. The Bank is particularly interested in financing 
projects which provide practical help and support to people in need both spiritually and physically. This is funded from 
customer deposits in a range of savings accounts. These savings products are designed to be easy to understand, whilst offering 
sufficiently competitive interest rates and easy access. The Bank operates a specialist insurance broking service focussing on 
churches and charities.  
 
Turnover  
The Bank’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2021 was £2,955,000 (2020: £2,810,000).  
 
Average number of employees on a full time equivalent basis 
The average number of employees on a full time equivalent basis during the year ended 31 December 2021 was 28 (2020:28).  
 
Profit or loss before tax 
The profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 was £703,000 (2020: loss £38,000).  
 
Corporation tax paid on profits  
The amount of corporation tax paid in the year ended 31 December 2021 was £Nil (2020: £56,000). 
 
Public subsidies received  
The Bank received public subsidies amounting to £Nil through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme during 2021 (2020: 
£9,000). 
 
Basis of preparation  
The information above is prepared on the following basis for the year ended 31 December 2021:  
 The CBCR is prepared on a solus basis for Kingdom Bank Limited.  
 Turnover represents total interest receivable and similar income from borrowers and banking counterparties together with 
insurance commission income and other operating income.  
 The average number of employees is an average of monthly total full time equivalent employees, based on employees legally 
employed by the Bank excluding contractors. The disclosure is exclusive of four non-executive directors who are employed 
under a contract for services.  
 Corporation tax paid on profit / (loss) shows the total amount of UK corporation tax paid to HM Revenue & Customs in 
2021. An element of the payments will relate to prior years and therefore the figures will not represent corporation tax charged 
in the period. 
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Dividends 
No dividend has been paid or proposed in the year (2020: Nil proposed and paid during the year) to the Bank’s shareholder, 
Lamb’s Passage Holding Limited. 
 

Political and charitable donations 
The Bank did not make any political donations during the year. No charitable donations (2020: £10,000) were made. 
 

Financial risk management 
The directors have explained the financial risk management approach within the Strategic report and note 27 to the financial 
statements. 
 

Directors 
The directors holding office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements, unless otherwise stated, were 
as follows:         
 
Non-Executive Directors 
 
G A Brisk Appointed 11 March 2022 
M R Buttrick Resigned 17 September 2021         
R B Ellison Appointed 18 January 2021 
M N Hayes Resigned 30 June 2021 
H L Lamb Appointed 1 March 2022  
E S Martinez Appointed 23 April 2021 
M Maruthappu MBE Appointed 19 February 2021    
W D R Swanney 
 
Executive Directors 
 
P R Houghton  
M J Slack           
 

Corporate governance  
The Bank is not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code, but it has regard to the principles which are 
relevant to the Bank. 
 
The Board of the Bank includes two groups of directors. There are non-executive directors who are independent and 
objectively bring a range of skills and experience to the Board. Three new non-executive directors were appointed during the 
first quarter of 2021 and bring with them a wide range of competencies and knowledge to strengthen the Board. The second 
group of directors are executive directors who are responsible for delivering accurate and timely information and implementing 
the strategy of the Bank and the decisions of the Board. In addition the 100% shareholder has appointed two observers who 
attend Board meetings to represent the shareholder’s interest on the Bank’s Board. 
 
Meetings of the Board take place at least five times a year during which all strategic matters are discussed and decisions made 
and policies are reviewed and approved.  
 
The Board Audit Committee is responsible for financial reporting and whistleblowing and liaises with and reviews the 
performance of the third line of defence (internal audit) as well as external audit.  
 
The Board Risk and Compliance Committee liaises with and reviews the performance of the second line of defence (the 
compliance function) and reviews the Bank’s internal controls, with particular reference to the Financial Conduct Authority 
and Prudential Regulatory Authority handbook and rulebook requirements. Additionally, it provides defence at a strategic level 
against all manner of risk, drawing on detailed analysis and reports, ensuring robust and effective controls are in place. It 
ensures risk-related management information is appropriate, comprehensive and effectively used. The Committee is also 
responsible for oversight of the controls used to manage the risk of fraud and bribery. 
 
The Board Remuneration Committee has oversight of the Bank’s remuneration policies and practices including the 
Remuneration Policy, the remuneration of the Leadership Team (including variable remuneration structures) and non-
executive directors. The Committee also undertakes an annual  Board effectiveness review and a 360-degree appraisal of 
executive and non-executive directors and ensures compliance with the PRA and FCA requirements concerning remuneration.  
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 

Corporate governance (continued) 
 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that it is composed of directors with the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, 
diversity and experience and is not dominated by any one individual or small group of individuals. The Board also periodically 
assesses its structure, size and composition and receives reports from each of the above sub-committees at each meeting. 

 
Qualifying third-party and pension indemnity 
 
The Bank has purchased and maintains Directors and Officers liability insurance cover. The Bank is not a party to any third-
party or pension scheme indemnities. 
 

Employees 
Following some changes in individual staff during the year the total number of employees at 31 December 2021 (excluding 
non-executive directors) was 30.3 Full Time Equivalent (“FTE”) and 33 individual people (2020: 27.6 FTE and 29 individuals 
respectively). 
 
We continued to support staff members in their own development including courses provided by the London Institute of 
Banking & Finance and the Chartered Insurance Institute as well as technical training. 

 
Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

regulation. 

 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland”, and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for 
that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to: 

 
 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company 

will continue in business. 

 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
 
The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors 
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved: 

 

 so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; 

and 

 they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.  
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
Going concern 
Whilst the first half of 2021 saw some negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the impact appears to be diminishing. 
The directors have paid attention to its impact in considering the issue of going concern. Specific considerations have included 
the following: 
 

 The ongoing economic impact of the pandemic is less significant than initially expected. The long-term impact on 
propensity to default and loss given default are still uncertain and this risk may be exacerbated by the growing impact 
of inflation on our borrowers, but the Bank’s existing stress tests used to assess its capital position allow for a severe 
impact on both the housing and commercial property markets. The stress tests are significantly worse than the impact 
of the pandemic to date. The Bank’s assessment is that it has sufficient capital to withstand such a stress. 

 More broadly than COVID-19, the Bank is conscious of the economic pressures on churches, their supporting 

congregations, and personal lending customers as the UK enters a period of raised inflation in 2022. For many smaller 

churches, energy costs are a significant proportion of their expenditure. In many cases, even more significantly, 

churches are dependent on gift income from members who will themselves be suffering the effects of inflation on 

disposable incomes. The Bank will maintain close relationships with customers, in particular looking to identify early 

any specific difficulties or general patterns of concern relating to the return to regular church activities and the impact 

of energy price rises. At the date of this report there are no significant concerns to report, and the Bank has a strong 

liquidity position in case its deposit customers may need to withdraw funds.  

 Net interest margin has been adversely affected by lower interest rates introduced in 2020 as a response to the 

pandemic. The Bank’s five year business plan projects that interest rates will begin to increase modestly in early 2022 

and across the plan period. Capital ratios are expected to remain strong. 

 New lending volumes have improved during 2021, with gross advances of around 219% of the level achieved in 

2020. However, insurance commission income was 3% lower than in 2020 due to the loss of one major non-core 

customer in 2021 and a non-recurring claims bonus from an insurer which enhanced income in 2020. Net retail 

deposits increased sufficiently to maintain funding and liquidity levels well above the minimum risk appetite. 

 All staff have now embraced a hybrid flexible working pattern with a mixture of working in the office and from 

home. Business volumes began to increase during the final quarter of 2021 and continue to grow in early 2022. There 

has been no breakdown in customer service or underwriting standards as a result of new working practices. 

 
Further to the above analysis and forecasting and after making appropriate enquiries, the directors have formed a judgement, at 
the time of approving the financial statements, that the Bank can have a reasonable expectation that adequate resources will be 
available for it to continue its operations for at least 12 months from the date these financial statements are approved, and 
consequently it is appropriate to adopt the going concern principle in the preparation of the financial statements. In forming 
this judgement, the directors have reviewed the budget for 2022 and business planning forecasts for 2023, assessed capital 
requirements and liquidity levels, both before and after performing sensitivity analysis and stress testing on the budget and 
forecasts including the possible long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. This statement should be read in conjunction 
with the “COVID-19 and inflationary pressures” statement included in the Strategic Report. 
 
Approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
  
P R Houghton  
Chief Executive Officer 
7 April 2022 
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Board Audit Committee report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
During the year the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (“ARCC”) was split into the Board Audit Committee (the “Audit 
Committee”) and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”). The Audit Committee is an essential part of the 
Bank’s governance framework to which the Board has delegated oversight of the following areas: 

• financial reporting; 
• whistleblowing; 
• internal audit; and 
• external audit. 

This report provides an overview of the Audit Committee’s work and details of how it has discharged its responsibilities during 
the year.  
 
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are in line with the provisions of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Guidance 
on Audit Committees. The main function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities, specifically the ongoing review, monitoring and assessment of: 

• the integrity of the financial statements, any formal announcements relating to financial performance and significant 
financial reporting judgements contained therein;  

• the internal audit and external audit processes;  
• the performance and independence of both internal and external auditors; and  
• the engagement of external auditors for non-audit work.  

Following each Audit Committee meeting, the minutes of the meeting are distributed to the Board, and the Audit Committee 
Chair provides an update to the Board on key matters discussed by the Audit Committee.  
 
The composition of the Audit Committee during the year was as follows: 

M R Buttrick (Chair until resignation on 17 September 2021) 
R B Ellison (appointed 18 January 2021, Chair from 17 September 2021) 
M N Hayes (resigned 30 June 2021)  
E S Martinez (appointed 17 September 2021)  

 
The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer and Chief Information Officer (“the Leadership 
Team”) attend the meeting by invitation. Both the internal and external auditors are also invited to each meeting, and there is 
opportunity for discussion without the Leadership Team being present.  
 

Key areas reviewed during 2021 
The Audit Committee met five times during the year (three times as the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and twice as 
the Board Audit Committee) and focused on the following matters:  
 
Financial reporting  
The primary role of the Audit Committee in relation to financial reporting is to review and assess with the Leadership Team 
and the external auditors the integrity and appropriateness of the annual financial statements concentrating on amongst other 
matters:  

• the appropriateness and consistency of accounting policies and practices; 
• the clarity of the disclosures and compliance with financial reporting standards and relevant financial and governance 

reporting requirements including advising the Board on whether the Report and financial statements (the “Annual 
Report”), when taken as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provide information sufficient for 
stakeholders to assess the Bank’s position and performance, business model and strategy; and  

• the material areas in which significant judgements have been applied.  

The primary areas of judgement considered by the Audit Committee in relation to the 2021 accounts were:  
• loan loss provisions: Review of judgements used to determine timing of recognition and valuation of loan loss 

provisions in line with FRS102;  
• revenue recognition: Review of the design, implementation and effectiveness of controls around the calculation of 

interest income and charges, including the timing of fees and commission recognition under effective interest rate 
methodologies; and 

• going concern: Review of 5-year forecasts and stress sensitivities including residual COVID-19 impact.  
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Board Audit Committee report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(continued) 
 
Key areas reviewed during 2021 (continued) 
 
Financial reporting (continued) 
The Audit Committee considered whether the 2021 Annual Report was fair, balanced and understandable. The Audit 
Committee did this by satisfying itself that there was a robust process of review and challenge to ensure balance and 
consistency and ensuring that the disclosures covered the key matters that the Audit Committee had concerned itself with 
during the year. The Audit Committee fully discharged its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting of the 2021 Annual 
Report. 
 
Whistleblowing 
The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy and security of the Bank’s arrangements for its employees and contractors to 
raise concerns, in confidence, about possible fraud or other wrongdoings in financial reporting or other matters. 

 
Internal audit 
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring internal audit activities and effectiveness and ensuring that sufficient 
resources are in place. In order to provide the scalability and flexibility of specialist resources required within internal audit, 
the Bank continues to outsource this role to Mazars LLP.  
 
The Chair of the Audit Committee meets privately with the internal auditors at least once per year without the Leadership 
Team being present. In addition, the non-executive directors also meet privately with the internal auditors at least once per 
year. This provides the opportunity for two-way comment and feedback on how the internal audit plan is progressing and how 
the relationship is performing. 
 
Audits were completed by Mazars LLP in line with their agreed work programme during the year including areas of internal 
control significance, specifically GDPR Embeddedness; Problem & Incident Management; Account Management 
Administration; Conduct Risk; Lending; Data Security, Systems Access & Data Back-Up; Product Development & Financial 
Promotions and a CIS (Cyber Security) Controls Review. 
 
Internal audit findings and thematic issues identified were considered by the Audit Committee, as well as the Wider Leadership 
Team’s response and the tracking and completion of outstanding actions all of which were incorporated into the Committee’s 
review and challenge of Mazars LLP draft planning for 2022 and 2023.  Their subsequently approved audit plan will form the 
basis of next year’s work but will be periodically reassessed to ensure that as new areas of focus and risk emerge, assurance is 
appropriately focused and deployed.  
 
The Audit Committee considers guidance from the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors entitled ‘Effective Internal Audit in 
the Financial Services Sector’ when ensuring that the internal auditors and the Audit Committee were fulfilling their 
obligations in a robust manner.  
 
The Audit Committee also approved the fee for the programme of internal audit work for the year having reviewed the scope 
of the work programme in detail.  
 
External audit 
The effectiveness of the external audit process is dependent on appropriate risk identification and at the start of the audit cycle 
the Audit Committee receives from the external auditors a detailed audit plan, identifying their assessment of the key risks.  
 
The Chair of the Audit Committee normally meets privately with the external auditors at least once per year without the 
Leadership Team being present. In addition, the non-executive directors also normally meet privately with the external auditors 
at least once per year. This provides the opportunity for open dialogue and feedback from the Audit Committee and the 
Auditors without the Leadership Team being present. Matters typically discussed include the Auditor’s assessment of financial 
reporting risks and key financial reporting judgements, the transparency and openness of interactions with the Wider 
Leadership Team, confirmation that there has been no restriction in scope placed on them and the independence of their audit. 
 
The Audit Committee approved the fees for audit services for 2021 after a review of the level and nature of the work to be 
performed and being satisfied that the fees were appropriate for the scope of the work required. The Audit Committee 
considers the reappointment of the external auditors, including rotation of the Senior Statutory Auditor, each year and also 
assesses their independence on an ongoing basis.  
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Board Audit Committee report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(continued) 
 
Key areas reviewed during 2021 (continued) 
 
External audit (continued) 

 
There were no non-audit services provided (2020: £Nil). 
 
Board Audit Committee effectiveness 
The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed during the year and found to be fit for purpose.  
 
Approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
R B Ellison  
Chair of the Board Audit Committee  
7 April 2022 
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Board Risk and Compliance Committee report for the year ended 31 December 
2021 
 
As noted in the Board Audit Committee report, during the year the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee was split into the 
Board Audit Committee and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”). The BRCC is an essential part of the 
Bank’s governance framework to which the Board has delegated oversight of the following areas: 

• internal controls and risk management systems; 
• fraud and bribery; 
• compliance; and 
• risk management. 

This report provides an overview of the BRCC’s work and details of how it has discharged its responsibilities during the year.  
 
Following each BRCC meeting, the minutes of the meeting are distributed to the Board, and the BRCC Chair provides an 
update to the Board on key matters discussed by the BRCC.  
 
The BRCC was formed on 17 September 2021 and from that date its composition was as follows: 

E S Martinez (Chair) 
R B Ellison 
W D R Swanney 

 
The Leadership Team attend the meeting by invitation and there is opportunity for discussion without the Leadership Team 
being present.  
 

Key areas reviewed during 2021 
The BRCC met six times during the year (three times as the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and three times as the 
BRCC) and focused on the following matters:  
 
Internal controls and risk management systems 
The Board recognises the importance of sound systems of internal control and risk management systems in the achievement of 
its objectives and the safeguarding of the Bank’s assets. Internal controls and risk management systems also facilitate the 
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, help to ensure the reliability of internal and external reporting and assist in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 
 
The Bank operates in a dynamic business environment and, as a result, the risks it faces are continually changing. The internal 
controls and risk management systems have been designed to ensure thorough and regular evaluation of the nature and extent 
of risk and the Bank’s ability to mitigate or react accordingly. It is the role of the Wider Leadership Team to implement the 
Board’s policies on risk and control. It is also recognised that all employees have responsibility for internal control as part of 
their accountability for achieving objectives. Staff training and induction is designed to ensure that they are clear on their 
accountabilities in this area and are competent to operate and monitor the internal control framework. 
 
The outsourced internal auditors provided independent assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of the internal controls and 
risk management systems through the Board Audit Committee.  
 
The BRCC review the internal controls and risk management systems through regular reporting from the Leadership Team and 
independent reporting from the Chief Risk Officer. The main internal control matters which were reviewed by the BRCC 
Committee in 2021 were:  

• prudential and conduct related; and  
• the status of any issues raised in control reports to ensure a timely resolution.  

The information received and considered by the BRCC provided ‘adequate and effective’ assurance that during 2021 there 
were no material breaches of control or regulatory standards and that, overall, the Bank maintained an adequate internal control 
framework.  
 
Fraud and bribery 
The BRCC has reviewed, assessed and approved the Fraud Response Plan contained in the Fraud Policy. The Board has also 
reviewed, assessed and approved the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy and has reviewed the annual report from the Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer and the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s anti-money laundering systems and controls. 
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Board Risk and Compliance Committee report for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (continued) 
 
Key areas reviewed during 2021 (continued) 
 
Compliance 
The BRCC is responsible for monitoring compliance activities and effectiveness and ensuring that sufficient resources are in 
place. The risk and compliance function is headed up by the Chief Risk Officer supported by an assistant. A Risk and 
Compliance Senior Officer will be appointed in April 2022. 
 
The Chief Risk Officer completed a number of reviews during the year in areas not covered by internal audit. The reviews 
were agreed in advance by the BRCC and Board Audit Committee as part of the 3 year rolling combined assurance plan which 
includes all monitoring reviews by the second (risk and compliance function) and third (internal audit and external audit) lines 
of defence. 
 
Risk management 
The BRCC reviewed the Bank’s Risk Management Framework and Risk Appetite Statement incorporating a review of the 
outputs and assumptions used in preparing the ICAAP, ILAAP and Recovery Plan documents which were recommended for 
Board approval after appropriate challenge. A half-yearly review of the Bank’s Risk Register including the identification, 
evaluation and management of the Bank’s risks was performed. The BRCC also analysed the Bank’s performance against the 
Risk Appetite Statement as reported by the Chief Risk Officer. 
 
BRCC effectiveness 
The BRCC’s Terms of Reference were reviewed during the year and found to be fit for purpose.  
 
Approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
E S Martinez  
Chair of the Board Risk and Compliance Committee  
7 April 2022 
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Board Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
During the year the Board Remuneration Committee (“Remuneration Committee”) was established. The Remuneration 
Committee is a further essential part of the Bank’s evolving governance framework to which the Board has delegated oversight 
of the following areas: 

• remuneration policies and practices including the Remuneration Policy;  
• remuneration of the Leadership Team and non-executive directors;  
• variable remuneration structures; 
• board effectiveness review; 
• 360-degree appraisal of executive and non-executive directors; and 
• compliance with the PRA and FCA requirements concerning remuneration. 

This report provides an overview of the Remuneration Committee’s work and details of how it has discharged its 
responsibilities during the year.  
 
Following each Remuneration Committee meeting, the minutes of the meeting are distributed to the Board, and the 
Remuneration Committee Chair provides an update to the Board on key matters discussed by the Remuneration Committee.  
 
The Remuneration Committee was formed on 21 May 2021 and from that date its composition was as follows: 

W D R Swanney (Chair) 
R B Ellison 
M N Hayes (resigned 30 June 2021)  
M Maruthappu MBE 

 
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attend the meeting by invitation except when it considers matters 
related to their performance and remuneration.  
 

Key areas reviewed during 2021 
The Remuneration Committee met once during the year and focused on the following matters:  
 
Remuneration policies and practices 
The Committee reviewed a document ‘Recruitment, Review and Reward Structure’ prepared by the Chief Executive Officer 
with input from the Chief Financial Officer. This introduced a number of new aspects to the Bank’s remuneration policies and 
practices: 

 introduction of three key priorities: Culture, Quality and Growth - against which are mapped:  

 competencies (12 competencies balanced across the three priorities) - resulting in: 

 definition of company goals, - cascading to: 

 personal goals - assessed by: 

 performance reviews - resulting in: 

 reward: salary and bonus (salary matrix structure and regular external benchmarking; introduction of performance-
based bonus pools from 2022 linked to Company performance and individual performance). 

This document was adopted into the Remuneration Policy which was subsequently approved by the Board in July 2021. 
 
Remuneration of the Leadership Team and non-executive directors 
The Remuneration Committee reviewed the Leadership Team salaries during the year and agreed a number of changes. At the 
Board meeting in December 2021 it was agreed that non-executive directors’ fees would default to increasing in line with the 
inflationary increase applied to the salaries of the wider staff team. Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in note 9. 
 
Variable remuneration structures 
A new performance-related bonus structure was discussed by the Remuneration Committee and a number of changes were 
requested before this was included in the Remuneration Policy approved by the Board in July 2021. The new bonus structure 
will be refined further in 2022 before being implemented for the 2022 end of year performance reviews. No variable 
remuneration is paid to non-executive directors or the Chief Risk Officer, who will confirm to the Remuneration Committee 
that he is not aware of any reasons indicating that any of the Wider Leadership Team should not be paid a bonus for the 
scheme year. 
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Board Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Key areas reviewed during 2021 (continued) 
 
Board effectiveness review 
In February 2021 the Board carried out the annual Board Effectiveness Review. Overall the feedback was positive with the 
main areas of concern noted to be succession, lack of gender diversity and the workload of the Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee. Action has been taken to address all of these concerns: by 11 March 2022 five new non-executive directors had 
been appointed to the Board, including one female candidate, and the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee was split into a 
Board Audit Committee and a Board Risk and Compliance Committee during the year. The Board recognises that further effort 
is required to address the lack of gender diversity within its membership. Due to the significant changes to the Board during 
2021 it was agreed to defer the next annual Board Effectiveness Review until later in 2022 to allow the Board’s new members 
to become more established in their roles.  
 
360-degree appraisal of executive and non-executive directors 
This exercise was deferred from 2021 to 2022 due to the changes in composition of the Board as noted above. 
 
Compliance with the PRA and FCA requirements concerning remuneration 
The Remuneration Committee asked the Chief Risk Officer to conduct a gap analysis between the Remuneration Policy and 
the PRA & FCA Remuneration rules. The review was carried out during 2021 and was presented to the Remuneration 
Committee at a meeting in January 2022. No significant gaps were found. 

 
Board Remuneration Committee effectiveness 
The Remuneration Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed during the year and found to be fit for purpose.  
 
Approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
W D R Swanney  
Chair of the Board Remuneration Committee  
7 April 2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements : 
 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the Company’s 
profit for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 

We have audited the financial statements of Kingdom Bank Limited (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 December 
2021 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of changes in equity, Statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit 
Committee.  
 
Independence 
 
Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed as auditors on 22 September 2020 to 
audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. The period 
of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering the year ending 31 December 2021. We remain independent 
of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services prohibited by that standard 
were not provided to the Company.  
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment 
of the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 
 

 Obtaining the Director’s Going Concern Board paper and challenging the Director’s assumptions and 
judgements made with regards to their forecast. We have challenged this in light of our understanding of the 
Bank’s strategy and assessment of the impact of various stress scenarios. 

 In understanding the capital and liquidity of the Bank, we have reviewed the ICAAP, ILAAP and capital 
adequacy ratio with the help of our regulatory experts. We have used this understanding to assess 
management’s capital and liquidity position and their ability to remain compliant with the required regulatory 
requirements. 

 Challenging management’s assumptions and judgements made with regards to their base forecast and 
stress-tested forecast, including reverse stress test scenarios. 

 Assessing how the Directors have factored in key external factors expected to impact the Company such as 
the continued economic impact of COVID-19, Brexit and developments in Ukraine and checking that  these 
had been appropriately considered as part of the Directors’ going concern assessment. 

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
 



Kingdom Bank Limited 
 

23 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
 
Overview 
 

 
 
 
 
Key audit matters 

2021 
 
 

Impairment losses on loans 
and advances 
 
Effective Interest Rate – 
Revenue Recognition 
 

 

2020 
 
Going concern 
 
Impairment losses on loans and 
advances 
 
Effective Interest Rate - Revenue 
recognition 

 
Materiality 

£59,000 based on 0.8% of net 
assets 

£51,000 based on 0.75% of net 
assets 

 
Going concern as not considered to be a key audit matter in the current year as a result of the profit making position 
of the Company in the current year, as opposed to the loss making position in the prior year. 
 
An overview of the scope of our audit 

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Company and its environment, including the Company’s 
system of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.  We also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of 
bias by the Directors that may have represented a risk of material misstatement. 

Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key audit matter  How the scope of our audit 
addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment losses on 
loans and advances 
 
Management’s 
associated accounting 
policies are detailed on 
page 36 with detail about 
judgements in applying  
Accounting policies and 
critical accounting 
estimates on page 41. 
 
As disclosed in Note 12, 
the impairment provision 
at year-end is £164,000 
(2020: £324,000).  
 

The principal activity of the Company is the 
provision of loans. Commensurate with the 
activities of the Company, the total loan loss 
provision is a material balance subject to 
management judgement and estimation, 
including data regarding the probability of any 
account going into default, the probability of 
defaulted accounts progressing to possession 
and the eventual loss incurred in the event of 
forced sale or write-off.  
 
The Company accounts for the impairment of 
loans and advances to customers using an 
incurred loss model.  
 

Our testing on specific provisions 
included selecting a sample of loans 
and checking the collateral valuation 
to the external valuations obtained by 
management, including re-
calculations of indexed property 
valuations. 
 
We tested the discount rate applied to 
the collateral valuations based on 
past actual discounts where collateral 
was sold. We also tested the 
population of loans to gain comfort 
that all loans that meet the criteria for 
a specific provision have been 
included for specific provisioning. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 

Key audit matter  How the scope of our audit 
addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment losses on 
loans and advances 
(continued) 
 
 

In accordance with the recognition and 
measurement criteria of FRS 102, 
management has calculated two types of 
provisions. 
 
(i) A specific provision is calculated for loans 
where there is an observable loss event. 
(ii) A collective provision is recognised for 
loans which are impaired as at the year end 
date and whilst not specifically identified as 
such are known from experience to be 
present in any portfolio of loans, being 
impairment that has been incurred but not 
reported. 
 
Estimating an appropriate loan loss provision 
requires significant judgement in determining 
the value and timing of future cash flows. In 
particular, the assumptions related to the 
cash flows expected to be received from the 
sale of property have the most significant 
impact on the provision and is therefore 
considered to be a Key Audit Matter. 
 

We tested the appropriateness of the 
key assumptions within this model in 
relation to the collective provision, 
such as impairment triggers, indexed 
property valuations, and probability of 
defaults through a combination of, 
independent recalculations and 
agreeing inputs to external data 
sources where applicable, and taking 
into account current market conditions 
which pertain to the mortgage book. 
 
We checked the completeness and 
accuracy of data and key assumption 
inputs feeding into the collective and 
specific provision calculations through 
reconciliation to underlying records.  
 
We verified the arithmetic accuracy of 
the models through re-calculation. 
 
We reconciled the loan balances in 
the models to the underlying 
mortgage portfolio to test whether the 
relevant loan populations were being 
considered for impairment. 
 
Key observations: 
 
We have not identified any indicators 
to suggest that the provision for loans 
and advances to customers is 
unreasonably estimated in 
consideration of the key assumptions 
and judgements made or that the 
related disclosures are not 
appropriate. 
 

Effective Interest Rate 
– Revenue Recognition 
 
 
Management’s 
associated accounting 
policies are detailed on 
page 35 with detail about 
judgements in applying  
Accounting policies and 
critical accounting 
estimates on page 42. 
 
Net EIR liability - 
£295,000 (2020: 
£265,000).  
 

 
 
 
 
The Company’s fee and mortgage loan 
interest income is recognised on an effective 
interest rate (“EIR”) method in accordance 
with the requirements of applicable 
accounting standards.  
 
The models used to achieve this are complex 
and reliant on the completeness and accuracy 
of input data. 
 
 

We assessed whether the revenue 
recognition policies adopted by the 
Company are in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable 
accounting standards. This included 
an assessment of the types of fees 
and costs being spread within the EIR 
models. 
 
We assessed the completeness and 
accuracy of data and key model 
inputs by agreeing samples back to 
source documents. 
 
We verified the arithmetic accuracy of 
the EIR models through re-
calculation. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 

Key audit matter  How the scope of our audit 
addressed the key audit matter 

Effective Interest Rate 
– Revenue Recognition 
(continued) 
 
 
 

Significant management judgement is also 
required to determine the expected cash 
flows for the Bank’s loans and advances 
within these models. The key assumptions in 
the EIR models are the directly attributable 
fees and costs and the expected behavioural 
life and redemption profiles of the mortgage 
loans due to the impact on timing and 
quantum of expected future cash flows. 
 
 
Revenue recognition in respect of EIR 
accounting is therefore considered to be a key 
audit matter. 
 

We tested the mortgage loan 
behavioural life assumptions used by 
management for the EIR calculations 
based on the Company’s historical 
data. 
 
We performed a manual recalculation 
of the contractual interest recognised 
during the financial year on loans 
advanced. 
 
Key observations:  
 
Based on the procedures performed, 
we consider revenue recognition in 
respect of EIR accounting to be 
appropriate and in accordance with 
the Company’s accounting policies. 

 
Our application of materiality 
 
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements.  We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could 
influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.  
 
In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a 
lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements 
below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified 
misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial 
statements as a whole.  
 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and 
performance materiality as follows: 
 

 2021 
£ 

2020 
£ 

Materiality 59,000 51,000 
Basis for determining materiality 0.8% net assets 0.75% net assets 

Rationale for the benchmark applied We believe that net assets, which is considered a proxy 
for regulatory capital, is the primary measure used by the 
shareholder, management and regulators in assessing 
the performance of the Company, and is a generally 
accepted auditing benchmark. The Bank is designated as 
a Public Interest Entity, as in the previous year, therefore, 
we believe it is appropriate to use net assets as a 
benchmark. 

Performance materiality 41,000 £36,000 
Basis for determining performance materiality 70% materiality 

 
On the basis of our risk assessment together with factors 
such as our assessment of the Company’s overall control 
environment, and expected total value of known and 
likely misstatements, based on past experience, our 
judgement was that overall performance materiality for 
the Bank should be 70% of materiality. 
70% materiality 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 
Reporting threshold   
 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £3,000 
(2020: £1,000).  We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds. 
 
Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Report and financial statements other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated 
in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 
 
Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required 
by the Companies Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below.   
 

Strategic 
report and 
Directors’ 
report  
 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year 

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 
and 

 the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 
 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report 
or the Directors’ report. 
 

Matters on 
which we are 
required to 
report by 
exception 
 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or 

 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 
 

 We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Company operates in, focusing 
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. These included legislation imposed by the Companies Act 2006 
and tax legislation. In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a 
direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Company’s 
ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included legislation imposed by the Financial Conduct 
Authority (“FCA”), Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”), Anti-Money Laundering Regulations, the 
Consumer Credit Act 2006 and General Data Protection Regulations;  

 We made inquiries of management, internal audit, Audit Committee and those responsible for legal and 
compliance matters about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities and known 
fraud cases. We corroborated our inquiries through our review of the internal audit and compliance monitoring 
findings during the year, key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation 
Authority, minutes of the Board and Board Risk Committee; 

 We reviewed the Company’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to identifying, 
evaluating, detecting and responding to the risks of fraud;  

 We reviewed the nature of the industry and sector, assessed the Company’s internal controls and the 
business performance including the design of the remuneration policies, key drivers for Director’s 
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets. We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness 
of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect the irregularities;  

 We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to 
posting inappropriate journal entries to manipulate the financial results and management bias in accounting 
estimates. We challenged assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting 
estimates, in particular in relation to impairment losses on loans and advances; 

 We incorporated the element of unpredictability in our testing through altering the nature, timing and/or extent 
of work performed; 

 We performed journal entry tests with particular focus on those posted by senior management, posted with 
descriptions indicating higher level of risk, posted to unusual account combinations based on our 
understanding of usual business operations, and material late adjustments; and 

 We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement 
team members as part of meetings at the planning stage and remained alert to any indications of fraud or 
non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 

 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations 
or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the 
less likely we are to become aware of it. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Kingdom Bank Limited 
(continued) 
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 

 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Matthew Hopkins (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, UK 
7 April 2022 

 
 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127). 
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Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

     

 Note  2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 
 

    
 

Interest receivable 6  2,419  2,297 
 

     
Interest payable 7  ( 345)  ( 523) 

 
       

 
     

Net interest income   2,074  1,774 
 

     
Insurance commission income   419  433 

Other operating income   117  80 
 

       
 

     
Operating income   2,610  2,287 

 
     

 
     

Administrative expenses 8  ( 2,437)  ( 2,167) 
 

     
Depreciation and amortisation 14, 15  ( 80)  ( 81) 

      

Profit on sale of investment property   634                      
-   

      

Movement in loan loss provision 12 c)  ( 24)  ( 77) 
 

       
 

     
Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 5  703  ( 38) 

 
     

Tax on profit / (loss) on ordinary activities 10  ( 23)  14 
 

       
 

     
Profit / (loss) for the financial year   680  ( 24) 

 
       

 
     

All results arise from continuing operations and are attributable to the owners of the Bank. 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

     
 

     

 Note  2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 
 

     
Profit / (loss) for the financial year  

 680  ( 24) 
  

 
   

  
 

  
 

 
     

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year  
 680  ( 24) 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 
      

 Note  2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 
Assets      

 
     

Cash and balances at central banks    10,087  6,678 

   
 

  
Loans and advances to banks 11  10,795  14,135 

 
     

Loans and advances to customers 12  53,795  47,114 

      
Investment property 13                      -    667 

      
Tangible fixed assets 14  268  730 

      
Intangible fixed assets 15  83  69 

      
Other assets 16  347  282 
      
Deferred tax assets 21  166  106 

  
      

      
Total assets   75,541  69,781 

 
       

Liabilities      
 

     
Customer accounts 17  66,668  61,287 

 
  

   

Other liabilities 18  661  292 
 

  
   

Subordinated liabilities 19  761  1,431 
 

             
   68,090  63,010 

 
     

Called up share capital 20  4,867  4,867 
 

  
   

Profit and loss account  
 2,584  1,732 

 
  

   

Revaluation reserve  
                     -     172 

 
             

Total shareholders' funds  
 7,451  6,771 

 
             

Total liabilities and total shareholders' funds   75,541  69,781 
 

       
Memorandum items      
Commitments - Loans and advances to customers 22  7,345  4,154 

      
The notes on pages 34 to 76 form part of the financial statements. The financial statements were approved by the Board on 7 
April 2022 and were signed on its behalf by 

                                                                                                                                                           
W D R Swanney  P R Houghton 

Chair  Chief Executive  

7/4/2022  7/4/2022   
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2021 
      

 

 
Called up 

share 
capital 

Profit and 
loss 

account1 

Revaluation 
reserve2 

Total 
shareholders' 

funds 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
  

    
Balance as at 1 January 2020  4,217 1,756 172 6,145 

      

(Loss) for the financial year                    -   ( 24)                    -   ( 24) 
Other comprehensive income for the year      

Share allotment                650                     -                      -                    650  

Total comprehensive income for the year                650  ( 24)                   -   626 
      

Balance as at 31 December 2020  4,867 1,732 172 6,771 
      
      

Balance as at 1 January 2021  4,867 1,732 172 6,771 
      

Profit for the financial year                    -   680                    -   680 
      
Transfer of revaluation reserve to profit and loss 
reserve upon reclassification of operating property 

 - 172 ( 172) - 

      

Balance as at 31 December 2021  4,867 2,584                    -   7,451 

 
     

1Profit and loss account represents accumulated comprehensive income for the current year and prior years.  
 
2The balance within the revaluation reserve is also not distributable having arisen from the revaluation of operating property. 
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021            

 Note  2021  2020 

 
 

 £’000  £’000 
Cash flow from operating activities 

 
 

   

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities excluding 
tax 

28 
 

( 630) 
 

7,026 

Taxation paid  
 -  ( 56) 

  
      

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities  
 ( 630)  6,970 

  
    

Cash flow from investing activities      

Purchase of intangible assets 15  ( 47)  ( 39) 
Purchase of tangible assets 14  ( 197)  ( 30) 
Sale of investment property 13  2,013                      -    
  

 
   

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  
 1,769  ( 69) 

  
 

 
  

Cash flow from financing activities  
 

   

Repayment of subordinated liabilities 19  ( 670)                      -    
Share allotment  

                     -     650 
  

 
   

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities  
 ( 670)  650 

  
  

 
 

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  
 469  7,551 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  
 19,561  12,010 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  
 20,030  19,561 

  
    

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:  
 

   

Cash and balances at central banks   
 10,087  6,678 

Loans and advances to banks repayable on demand or in not more 
than three months 

11 
 

9,943  12,883 

  
 

   

Cash and cash equivalents   20,030  19,561 
 

Interest received was £2,317,000 (2020: £2,243,000) and interest paid was £345,000 (2020: £523,000).  
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
1. General information 

 
Kingdom Bank Limited (“the Bank”) has two material income streams: interest receivable and similar income from 
secured lending to churches, charities and individuals, and commission receivable from insurance broking services 
specialising in churches and charities. The church and charity loans are focussed on helping the organisations to deliver 
their mission to their local communities. The loans to individuals are either used for similar purposes or to provide 
housing for individuals working in Christian ministry now or in the future. The Bank is particularly interested in 
financing projects which provide practical help and support to people in need both physically and spiritually. This is 
funded from customer deposits in a range of savings and investment accounts. These savings products are designed to 
be the natural choice for churchgoers, being easy to understand whilst offering sufficiently competitive interest rates 
and easy access.  
 
All income relates to services provided in the UK to UK churches, charities and individuals.  
 
The Bank is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom and is based 
in the East Midlands. The address of its registered office is Kingdom Bank Limited, Media House, Padge Road, Beeston, 
Nottingham NG9 2RS. The registered number of the Bank is 04346834. 
 

2. Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
the Republic of Ireland’’ (‘‘FRS 102’’) and the Companies Act 2006. 
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
a) Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with the special provisions of SI 2008 No.410, Schedule 2 
of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to banking companies. 
 
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings (comprising investment property and operating property as 
detailed in note 3 h) and 3 i).  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Bank’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4. 
 

b) Going concern 
 
After making appropriate enquiries, the directors have formed a judgement, at the time of approving the 
financial statements, that the Bank can have a reasonable expectation that adequate resources will be available 
for it to continue its operations for at least 12 months from the date these financial statements are approved, 
and consequently it is appropriate to adopt the going concern principle in the preparation of the financial 
statements. In forming this judgement, the directors have reviewed the budget for 2022 and forecasts for 2023, 
assessed capital requirements and liquidity levels, both before and after performing sensitivity analysis and 
stress testing on the budget and forecasts. This statement should be read in conjunction with the Going concern 
statement included in the Directors’ Report. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
c) Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102 
 

FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions. The Bank is a qualifying entity as it has a 
parent company who publishes publicly available accounts. The Bank has taken advantage of the exemption 
not to disclose key management personnel compensation in total. 
 

d) Foreign currency 
 
The Bank’s functional and presentation currency is the pound sterling. The Bank only operates in the UK and 
so is not exposed to foreign exchange volatility. 
 

e) Income and expense recognition 
 

(i) Interest receivable and similar income 
 
Interest receivable and similar income represents interest and fees earned from customer balances and is 
recognised using the effective interest method in the income statement in the year to which it relates. This 
method uses a set of estimated future cash flows through the expected life of each loan, rather than contractual 
cash flows. Incremental loan fees receivable and payable are those fees which are integral to the loans and are 
spread over the life of the loan. The expected life of the loan is the average period to derecognition (early 
redemption / full repayment). This has been estimated as 7 years (2020: 7 years) on average for non-fixed rate 
loans, and the fixed rate period for fixed rate loans, based on customer practice and will be kept under regular 
review against the Bank’s actual data and against market data. 
 
(ii) Interest payable 
 
Interest payable represents interest payable on customer balances and is recognised using the effective interest 
method in the income statement in the year to which it relates. 

 
(iii) Insurance commission income  
 
Commissions receivable are recognised in the year to which they relate based on the effective date on which 
each insurance policy commences, less a collective provision for amounts that may be returned if this is 
considered material. 
 
(iv) Other operating income 
 
Other operating income includes rental income from investment property and other sundry income. Rental 
income from investment property is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the leases. Lease incentives granted to enter into operating lease agreements are charged to profit or loss over 
the term of the lease. 
 
(v) Operating lease rentals 
 
Administrative expenses includes operating lease rentals for assets which have been leased from a third party 
which do not give rights approximating to ownership. Their annual rentals are charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received to enter into operating lease agreements 
are released to profit or loss over the term of the lease. 
 
(vi) Other income and expenses  
 
Other income and expenses are recognised on an accruals basis.  
 
All income originates and arises in the UK. There are two material income streams as set out under general 
information and reported in the income statement.  



Kingdom Bank Limited 
 

36 
 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

f) Financial instruments 
 
The Bank has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments. 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 
 
Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances and loans and advances 
are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where 
the transaction is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 
 
Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are 
settled, (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party 
or (c) control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell 
the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions. 

Loan loss provision 
 
Specific loan loss provisions are made against the carrying amount of loans and advances that are identified as 
not fully recoverable to reduce these loans and advances to their recoverable amounts. Specific provisions are 
made for loans where arrears exceed three months’ contractual payments or management judge that the 
probability of loss occurring is significant and an exposure to potential loss exists after realisation of security at 
a forced sale discount. 

 
A loan loss provision has been included for Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”) losses, which is maintained 
for loans which are likely to have incurred losses triggered by historical events but which have not yet been 
reported and uniquely identified by the Bank. The IBNR provision has been separated into two elements: 
unincorporated borrowers and incorporated borrowers and a provision has been recognised for each type of 
borrower which reflects the level of risk assessed by management. 

 
Movements in the loan loss provision are recognised in the income statement. If in a subsequent year the 
amount decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the write down, the 
write-down or provision is reversed through the income statement.  
 
(ii) Financial liabilities 
 
Basic financial liabilities, including customer accounts, other liabilities and subordinated liabilities that are 
classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a 
market rate of interest. 
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that 
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn 
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility 
to which it relates. 
 
Subordinated liabilities which result in fixed returns to the holder or are mandatorily redeemable on a specific 
date are classified as liabilities reflecting the contractual obligation for the Bank to pay cash to the holders. The 
interest on these subordinated liabilities is recognised in the income statement as interest expense. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Other liabilities are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers, and are recognised at transaction price. 
 

g) Intangible fixed assets 
 

(i) Software 
 
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Software 
is amortised over its estimated useful life, of between 3 and 5 years, on a straight-line basis. 
 
Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or 
useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect 
the new circumstances.  
 
The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. 
 

h) Investment property 
 
Prior to a new lease commencing on 8 February 2021 the Bank’s former head office property was separated 
between investment property (ground floor and part of first floor) and operating property (remainder of first 
floor which was occupied by the Bank, as well as land) based on an allocation of land value and building value. 
Building value was allocated based on floor area. On 8 February 2021 the operating property became subject to 
a new lease and was transferred to investment property. 
 
Prior to sale on 15 December 2021 the freehold investment property was included in the statement of financial 
position at fair value which was taken as being open market value. Movements in valuation were posted 
through the income statement. Investment property was not depreciated. Open market value was reassessed 
annually by the directors, with reassessment by appropriately qualified third party valuers at least every 5 
years. 
 
Details of the value of the property and its sale are provided in note 13 to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

i) Tangible fixed assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical purchase cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable 
to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 
 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates designed to write down the cost or valuation of fixed 
assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives. The following are approximations of the useful 
lives: 
 

Freehold building     - 50 years 
  Leasehold improvements    - remainder of lease term 

Office equipment and computer hardware  - between 3 and 7 years 
  Furniture, fixtures and fittings   - 10 years 
 
Freehold land is not depreciated. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting year to reflect current estimates, based on technological advancement, future investments, economic 
utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. The effect of any change is accounted for prospectively. 
 
The annual depreciation charge for tangible and intangible fixed assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated 
useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. See notes 14 and 15 for the carrying amount of the 
tangible and intangible fixed assets respectively.  
 
Operating property was included in the statement of financial position at open market value on an existing use 
basis. Open market value was reassessed annually by the directors, with reassessment by appropriately 
qualified third party valuers at least every 5 years. The decrease of operating property’s carrying amount as a 
result of a revaluation shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any previously 
recognised revaluation increase accumulated in equity, in respect of that asset. If a revaluation decrease 
exceeds the accumulated revaluation gains accumulated in equity in respect of that asset, the excess shall be 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred unless associated with a property in 
possession where they are charged to the borrower’s loan account in accordance with the terms of the loan. 
 

j) Impairment 
 
The carrying amount of the Bank’s assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indicators exist, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
reviewed. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of market value or the value in use of the respective asset. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  
 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value does not 
exceed that which it would have been had no impairment loss been recognised.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
k) Pension costs 

 
The Bank provides a range of staff benefits and pension to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, 
paid holiday arrangements and a defined contribution pension plan. 
 
(i) Short term benefits 
 
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an 
expense in the year in which the service is received. 
 
(ii) Defined contribution pension plans 
 
The Bank operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan 
under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the 
Bank has no further payment obligations. The contributions are recognised as an expense when they are due.  
Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the statement of financial position. The assets of the plan are held 
separately from the Bank in independently administered funds.  

l) Taxation 
 
Taxation expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting year. Tax is 
recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity respectively. 
 
Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 
(i) Current tax 
 
Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax 
is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year end. 
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which  
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
l) Taxation (continued) 

 
(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total 
comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion 
of income and expenses in tax assessments in years different from those in which they are recognised in 
financial statements. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of financial position on all timing differences at the reporting date 
including property revaluations. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it 
is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable 
profits. 
 
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year 
end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference. 
 
The future taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based on a medium-
term business plan prepared by management and extrapolated results thereafter. The business plan is based on 
management expectations that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Disclosure of the 
expected period of utilisation is given in note 21. 

 
m) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and building societies and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in value.  
 

n) Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingent liabilities arise as a result of past events when (i) it is not 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be reliably measured at the 
reporting date, or (ii) when the existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the Bank’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial 
statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 

o) Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 
p) Related party transactions 

 
The Bank discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same group. It 
does not disclose transactions with members of the same group that are wholly owned, applying the exemption 
in FRS 102 Section 33. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

q) Distributions to equity holders 
 

Dividends and other distributions to the Bank’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial 
statements in the year in which the dividends and other distributions are approved by the Bank’s shareholders. 
These amounts are recognised in the statement of changes in equity. 

 
4. Key accounting judgements and estimation of uncertainties 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 

a) Key accounting estimates and assumptions 
 
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
addressed below. 
 
(i) Loan loss provision 
 
The Bank regularly reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in profit or loss for the year, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence 
may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 
borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the 
group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. The carrying 
amount of the loan loss provision and a sensitivity analysis are included in note 12 c). The sensitivities 
analysed include the indexation values (residential and commercial property), forced sale discount, selling 
prices, probabilities of default (specific and IBNR) and IBNR average loan size. 
 
(ii) Investment property valuation 
 
Prior to sale on 15 December 2021 the investment property was stated at its fair value based on reports 
prepared by the directors at the end of each reporting year, with periodic reassessment by appropriately 
qualified third party valuers. There was sufficient market activity to provide comparable prices for orderly 
transactions with similar properties when determining the fair value for the Bank’s investment property. 
 
In preparing the valuation reports on the Bank’s investment property, the external valuer excluded distressed 
sales when considering comparable sales prices. Management reviewed the valuer’s assumptions and 
confirmed that these assumptions were appropriately determined considering the market conditions at the end 
of the prior reporting year. 
 
The principal assumptions underlying the estimation of the fair value were those relating to the receipt of 
contractual rentals, expected future market rentals, void periods, maintenance requirements and appropriate 
discount rates. These valuations were regularly compared to actual market yield data and actual transactions 
reported by the market. The carrying amount of the investment property up to the date of sale is included in 
note 13. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
4. Key accounting judgements and estimation of uncertainties (continued) 
 

a) Key accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
(iii) Operating property valuation 
 
As detailed in note 3 h) prior to a new lease commencing on 8 February 2021 the Bank’s former head office 
property was separated between investment property (ground floor and part of first floor) and operating 
property (remainder of first floor which was occupied by the Bank, as well as land). The part of the premises 
for the Bank’s own use was stated at fair value based on reports prepared by directors, with periodic 
reassessment by appropriately qualified third party valuers. The fair value of the premises was estimated based 
on the income capitalisation method, where the value was estimated from the expected market rental income 
streams from similar properties and capitalisation yields. The method considered net income generated by 
comparable property, capitalised to determine the value for property which was subject to the valuation. 
 
The principal assumptions underlying the estimation of the fair value were those relating to the possible market 
rentals and appropriate discount rates. These valuations were regularly compared to actual market yield data 
and actual transactions reported by the market. The carrying amount of the operating property up to the date it 
was transferred to investment property is included in note 14. 
 
(iv) Effective Interest Rate 
 
The effective interest rate applied to the mortgage book affects the carrying value of those assets. One of the 
key components of the Effective Interest Rate is the expected mortgage life. The average expected mortgage 
life has been assessed as 7 years (2020: 7 years) for non-fixed rate loans, and the fixed rate period for fixed rate 
loans, and is reassessed annually. In determining the expected life of mortgage assets, the Bank uses historical 
redemption data as well as management judgement. The carrying amount of the Effective Interest Rate liability 
and a sensitivity analysis are included in note 12 b). The sensitivities analysed include the average loan life for 
non-fixed rate loans and the average reversion period for fixed rate loans. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
5.    Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging / (crediting):    
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of software (notes 14 and 15) 80  81 

 Auditor’s remuneration - audit of Kingdom Bank Limited 93  90 

                                       - audit of Lamb's Passage Holding Limited                -    6 
 Operating lease rentals received ( 115)  ( 72) 

 Operating lease rentals payable 61               -   

 Movement in loan loss provision 24  77 
     

 
 

6.    Interest receivable    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 On loans fully secured on property 2,375  2,236 

     

 On short-term deposits with credit institutions 44  61 
       

     
  2,419  2,297 

 
      

     

 All interest receivable arises in the UK and represents interest earned from customer balances using the Effective 
Interest Method. 

 
 

7.    Interest payable    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 On customer deposits 275  436 

 On subordinated liabilities 70  87 
       

     
  345  523 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
     
8.    Administrative expenses    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Staff and related costs    
 Wages and salaries 1,164  1,080 

 Social security costs 115  104 

 Other pension costs 200  157 

       

     
  1,479  1,341 

 Training 14  11 

 Recruitment 11  83 

       

     

  1,504  1,435 

 Other costs    
 Office expenses 507  384 

 Property expenses 116  45 

 Other expenses 310  303 

       
     
 Total 2,437  2,167 

       

     
  2021  2020 

  No.  No. 

 
The monthly average full time equivalent number of employees (excluding non-
executive directors) was:    

     

 Executive directors 2  2 

 Office and management 26  26 
     

  28  28 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

     
9.    Directors' remuneration    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Directors' remuneration    
 Remuneration 257  234 

 Employers pension contribution 57  43 
 Benefits in kind 9  1 
       

     

  323  278 
       

     
 There were 2 (2020: 2) directors who were members of the defined contribution pension scheme.   
     
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Highest paid director    
 Total emoluments 118  87 

 Value of contributions paid to pension scheme 18  28 
       

     
 Directors' transactions    
 There were no other transactions (2020: £nil) with directors in the year other than those disclosed in note 28. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

     
10.   Tax on profit on ordinary activities    
     
 a) Tax expense included in profit or loss    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Current tax:    
 UK Corporation tax 90  7 

 Adjustments in respect of prior years ( 7)  - 
       

     
 Total current tax 83  7 

       

     
 Deferred tax (note 21):    
 Origination and reversal of timing differences ( 43)  ( 8) 

 Effect of change in deferred tax as a result of higher tax rate       ( 30)    ( 13) 
 Adjustments in respect of prior years 13                              -   

 

 
Total deferred tax 
  

( 60) 
   

( 21)  

     
 Tax on profit / (loss) on ordinary activities in profit or loss  23   ( 14)  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
10.   Tax on profit on ordinary activities (continued)    
     
 b) Reconciliation of tax charge    
     

 

Tax assessed for the financial year is lower than (2020: lower than) the main rate of corporation tax in the UK for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 of 19% (2020: 19%). The principal reason for this reduction is that the taxable gain on 
the investment property is significantly lower than the profit on sale of the investment property, as reported in the 
income statement, due to the availability of indexation allowance. The other differences are explained below: 

 
 

2021  2020 

 
 

£’000  £’000 

 

 

   

 Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 703   ( 38) 
       

 Profit / (loss) multiplied by the main rate of tax in the UK of 19% (2020: 19%) 134   ( 7) 

 Effects of:    
 Profits not chargeable for tax purposes ( 62)  - 
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes              18                  6  
 Origination and reversal of timing differences ( 43)  ( 13) 
 Effect of change in deferred tax as a result of higher tax rate ( 30)  - 
 Prior year adjustment to deferred tax 13  - 
 Prior year adjustment to current tax ( 7)  - 
       

     
 Total tax charge / (credit) for the year 23  ( 14) 

       

 

 
c) Tax rate changes 
 
An increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted in the 
Finance Bill 2021 on 24 May 2021. This is likely to increase the Bank's future tax charge accordingly and the 
deferred tax asset has been calculated based on the 25% rate. 
  

11.   Loans and advances to banks    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Repayable:    
 On demand 4,664  7,459 

 In not more than three months 5,279  5,424 
       

     
  9,943  12,883 

 Over three months but not more than one year 852  1,252 
       

     
  10,795  14,135 

 
      

     
 The average interest rate receivable during 2021 was 0.27% (2020: 0.53%).    
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12.    Loans and advances to customers     

      
 a) Advances to customers     
   2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 

 Repayable:     
 Fully secured on land and buildings:     
 Charity mortgages  42,846  40,095 

 Personal mortgages  11,063  7,074 

 Fully secured lending to other group companies                -    269 

 
 
Unsecured personal loans  50                - 

      
      

   
 

53,959  47,438 

 Less: loan loss provision  ( 164)   ( 324) 
        

 
   

 
53,795  

  
47,114 

 
      
 b) Maturity of advances to customers     
   2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 

 Repayable:     
 In not more than three months  738  739 
 Over three months but not more than one year  2,174  2,216 

 Over one year but not more than five years  10,560  9,304 

 In more than five years  40,487  35,179 
      

   
 

53,959  47,438 

 Less: loan loss provision  ( 164)  ( 324) 
      
      

  53,795   47,114 
       

 
             The average interest rate receivable during 2021 was 4.52% (2020: 4.61%). 
 

As detailed in note 4 a) (iv) an Effective Interest Rate liability of £295,000 (2020: £265,000) has been deducted from the 
above loan balances. The most significant estimates and assumptions affecting the loan loss provision are as follows: 
 
Average loan life for non-fixed rate loans 
The Bank calculates the expected life of non-fixed rate loans by analysing historic data concerning the average period from 
drawdown to closure. 
 
Average reversion period for fixed rate loans 
The Bank estimates the average time between the end of each fixed rate period and the date that the customer remortgages 
to another lender (or repays the loan). 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Sensitivity analysis  

   
 

 

Driver Change 
Increase / (decrease) in EIR liability 

at 31 December 2021 (£000) 
Increase / (decrease) in EIR liability at 

31 December 2020 (£000) 
 

Average loan life for 
non-fixed rate loans 

+1 year 6.3 6.0  

-1 year (8.4) (8.0)  

Average reversion period 
for fixed rate loans 

+1 month (9.4) (10.1)  

-1 month 9.4 10.1  
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12.   Loans and advances to customers (continued)    
    
 c) Loan loss provision    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

    
 Balance at 1 January  324   247  

 Charge for the year 26  89 

 Utilised during the year ( 184)              -   

 Released during the year ( 2)  ( 12) 
       

    
 Balance at 31 December 164   324  
       
     
 The most significant estimates and assumptions affecting the loan loss provision are as follows: 

 
Indexation 
In order to estimate the movement in the collateral valuation of each borrower’s property since the last professional 
valuation, the Bank uses a national residential property index and a national commercial property index according to 
the type of security held. 
 
Forced sale discount 
When estimating property selling values in a recovery situation the Bank applies a 30% forced sale discount to the 
indexed property valuation, which is made up of a 25% reduction in value and 5% disposal costs. The Board 
consider these are reasonable assumptions based on the Bank’s recent experience of recovery situations (albeit 
limited). 
 
Selling prices 
Once a property receiver has been appointed in a recovery situation the forced sale valuation is replaced with the 
estimated selling price after deducting disposal and carrying costs. The deficit between the loan balance and the 
estimated net selling price is equivalent to the loss given default. 
 
Probability of default 
When calculating the amount to provide against each loan after deducting the forced sale value, or estimated net 
selling price in a recovery situation, a probability of default is applied. The probability of default will normally be 
100% of the net exposure (being loss given default percentage multiplied by exposure at default) unless mitigating 
factors apply. Mitigating factors may include the existence of an LPA receiver which is reducing arrears levels, a 
forbearance arrangement or longer term mutually agreed exit strategy which is being maintained satisfactorily or a 
good recent payment record. 
 
Specific loan loss provisions for impaired loans (as detailed in note 3 (f)(i)) are calculated by multiplying the 
probability of default by the loss given default percentage and then multiplying by the exposure at default (i.e. the 
loan balance). 
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  12.    Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

 
c) Loan loss provision (continued) 

Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”) 
In the absence of any substantive historic default data in its portfolios over time allowing the creation of valid models 
the Bank has concluded that the IBNR provision for incorporated Charities will be at 50% of the average loan size and 
for unincorporated at 100% as unincorporated borrowers are considered to represent a higher probability of default. 
Given the Bank’s low historic experience of defaults and the Credit Committee’s close monitoring of loans in arrears 
and forbearance together with high risk cases, management have considered that there is likely to be no more than one 
single loan in the entire book which meets the criteria for inclusion in the IBNR provision. This loan is likely to have 
incurred losses triggered by historic events but which have not yet been reported and uniquely identified by the Bank. 
As a result a weighted average IBNR provision for one loan has been calculated based on the relative composition of 
incorporated and unincorporated loans in the book. The appropriateness of the IBNR provision has been validated 
against a granular calculation utilising industry standard residential mortgage market data (probability of default) 
flexed for the different types of lending that the Bank provides. Within this calculation the Bank’s recent experience 
of property disposals has been used to estimate foreclosure costs, and forced sale haircuts have been estimated using 
data from the 2021 Bank of England Annual Concurrent Stress Test. 
 
Further information regarding loan loss provisions is contained in note 27 (f).  
 
Sensitivity analysis   

   

Driver Change 

Increase / (decrease) 
in loan loss provision 
at 31 December 2021 

(£000) 

Increase / (decrease) in 
loan loss provision at 
31 December 2020 

(£000) 

Residential indexation 
10% Nil (no residential 

loans with specific 
provisions) 

(65.0) 

-10% 65.0 

Commercial indexation 
10% Nil (no commercial 

loans with specific 
provisions) 

Nil (no commercial 
loans with specific 

provisions) -10% 

Forced sale discount 
10% Nil (no loans with 

specific provisions) 
67.1 

-10% - 

Selling prices 
10% Nil (no properties 

currently in recovery) 
Nil (no properties 

currently in recovery) -10% 

Probability of default 
10% Nil (no loans with 

specific provisions) 
- 

-10% (5.9) 

IBNR Incorporated 

+10% average loan size 5.1 5.7 

-10% average loan size (5.1) (5.7) 

+10% probability of default 10.2 5.7 

-10% probability of default (10.2) (5.7) 

IBNR Unincorporated 

+10% average loan size 6.2 5.4 

-10% average loan size (6.2) (5.4) 

+10% probability of default 6.2 10.7 

-10% probability of default (6.2) (10.7) 
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13.    Investment property     

   
Investment 

property 

 
    
    
   £’000  

Valuation     
At 1 January 2021   667  
Transfer from Freehold land and building   605  
Disposals   ( 1,272)  
      
     
At 31 December 2021                      -    
      

     
Net book amount     
At 31 December 2021                      -    
      
     
At 31 December 2020   667  
      
     
The Bank's former head office premises in Ruddington were leased out on 8 February 2021 and on that date the 
operating property was transferred to investment property. The property was sold on 15 December 2021 for an 
amount of £2,013,000 net of sale costs. After deducting the net book value of £1,272,000 and the accrued 
rental income asset of £107,000 the resulting profit on disposal of £634,000 was recognised in the income 
statement. 
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14.    Tangible fixed assets          

  

Freehold 
land and 
building 

 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and fittings 

 Office 
equipment 

and 
computer 
hardware 

  

       
       

      Total 

  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Cost or valuation          
 At 1 January 2021 633                   -    113  306  1,052 

 Additions                  -    131  7  59  197 

 Reclassification ( 633)                   -                     -                     -    ( 633) 

 Disposals                  -                     -    ( 111)  ( 96)  ( 207) 

                
           

 At 31 December 2021                  -    131  9  270  409 
                

           

 

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment          

 At 1 January 2021 27                   -    103  192  322 

 Charged during the year 1  5  2  39  47 

 Reclassification ( 28)                   -                     -                     -    ( 28) 

 Disposals                  -                     -    ( 105)  ( 95)  ( 200) 

                
           

 At 31 December 2021                  -    5  -  136  141 
                

           
 Net book amount          

 At 31 December 2021                  -    126  9  133  268 
                

           
 At 31 December 2020 606                   -    10  114  730 

                
           
 All freehold land and buildings were held at valuation less depreciation where applicable. If they 

had not been revalued, they would have been included at the following amounts.  
        2021  2020 

        £’000  £’000 

          
 Cost                   -    685  

 Accumulated depreciation                    -    ( 219) 
             

 At 31 December                    -  466 
           

           

 
The Bank's former head office premises in Ruddington were leased out on 8 February 2021 and on that date the operating 
property was transferred to investment property. The property was sold on 15 December 2021 as detailed in note 13. 
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15.   Intangible fixed assets      
   Software  Total 

   £’000  £’000 

 Cost     
 At 1 January 2021  315  618  

 Additions  47  47  

      
        
      
 At 31 December 2021  362   665  
        

     
 Accumulated amortisation     
 At 1 January 2021  246   549  

 Provided during the year  33   33  
        

     
 At 31 December 2021  279   582  
        

     
 Net book amount     
 At 31 December 2021  83   83  
        

     
 At 31 December 2020  69   69  
        

      

 The software intangible assets include the Company’s banking system, insurance system and website which were created by 
external development firms for the Company’s specific requirements. Accounting software and regulatory reporting software 
are also included. The software assets are carried at £83,000 (2020: £69,000) and have a remaining amortisation period of 
between 1.2 and 4.6 years (2020: between 0.5 and 4.6 years). There are no other individually material intangible assets. 
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16.    Other assets    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Deferred taxation (note 21) 166  106 

 Prepayments and accrued income 347  282 

       
     

  513  388 

 
      

 
Other assets includes financial assets amounting to £14,000 (2020: £8,000) which comprises trade debtors. 

 
17.    Customer accounts    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Repayable:    
 On demand 4,707  4,382 

 In not more than three months 43,211  37,166 

 Over three months but not more than one year 12,562  12,986 

 Over one year but not more than five years 6,188  6,753 
       

     
  66,668  61,287 

 
      

 The average interest rate payable during 2021 was 0.43% (2020: 0.79%).    
     
18.    Other liabilities    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Corporation tax 90  7 

 Other taxation and social security 29  53 

 Other creditors 396  168 

 Accruals and deferred income 146  64 
       

     
  661  292 

 
      

 
Other liabilities includes financial liabilities amounting to £510,000 (2020: £222,000) which comprises trade 
creditors and accrued expenses. 
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19.    Subordinated liabilities    
     
 a) Undated Tier 2    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 At 1 January 61   61  
 Interest payable 2  2 
 Interest paid during the year ( 2)        ( 2)   
       
     
 At 31 December 61   61  
 

      

     
 b) Dated Tier 2    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 At 1 January 1,370   1,370  
 Interest payable 68  85 

 Interest paid during the year ( 68)        ( 85)   
 Principal repaid during the year ( 670)  - 

       

     
 At 31 December 700   1,370  

 
      

     
 Subordinated liabilities 761   1,431  

 
      

     
 c) Repayment profile and terms    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Repayable:    
 Over three months but not more than one year                   -    670  

 Over one year but not more than five years 700                 -    

 Over five years 61   761  
       

     
  761   1,431  

 
      

     
 The average interest rate payable during 2021 was 5.57% (2020: 6.07%).    
 

The subordinated liabilities are denominated in pounds sterling and are classified as Tier 2 capital as defined by the 
regulatory authorities, and so form part of the Bank’s permanent capital and capital resources. 

 
 
     
 Due to the fixed yield and obligation to transfer cash to redeem the subordinated liabilities, the debt is 

considered to have financial liability instrument characteristics and therefore has been treated for 
accounting purposes as a financial liability. 
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19.    
 
Subordinated liabilities (continued) 

 
 c) Repayment profile and terms (continued)    

 
 
Undated Tier 2    

   

 

The terms of the undated Tier 2 deposits amounting to £61,000 are unchanged from 2020 and are summarised as 
follows: 
 
-          the deposit is not repayable until the date of an effective resolution or Court order for the winding up of the  

             Company;    
 -          the Bank may exercise its option to repay, but only with the consent of the Regulatory Authority;  
 -          interest is paid at 3% per annum.    
     
 The deposits, and any unpaid interest, are intended to absorb losses made by the Bank in circumstances where the 

Bank would not otherwise be solvent.  The deposits therefore rank pari passu with the Bank’s ordinary shares. 
 
  

   

 Dated Tier 2 
   

 The dated Tier 2 deposits amounting to £700,000 outstanding at 31 December 2021 remain on the same terms as 
2020. The terms of the outstanding deposits are as follows: 
 
-       the deposit is repayable in full after ten years; 
-          interest is paid on a fixed basis as follows: 
               - 5% per annum (ten year term). 
 
Dated Tier 2 deposits amounting to £670,000 remained on the same terms as 2020. These deposits were all repaid at 
maturity during the year. The terms of the deposits were as follows:   

 
    

 -       the deposit is repayable in full after seven or ten years (as selected by the depositor prior to the date  

 of deposit);    
 -          interest is paid either on a fixed basis or on a variable basis as follows:  

 -      where the depositor elects to receive interest on the fixed basis:   
- 8.5% per annum for the first five years followed by 7.5% for the remaining five years (ten year term). 

-      where the depositor elects to receive interest on the variable basis:   
- at the Bank of England Base Rate plus a margin of 3%, subject to being not less than 7.5% per annum 
 and no greater than 10% per annum. 

 
    

 The deposits, and any unpaid interest, are intended to absorb losses made by the Bank in circumstances where the 
Bank would not otherwise be solvent.  Accordingly, if the Bank goes into liquidation and the deposit has not been 
repaid, it is the intention that the deposit (and any interest accrued but unpaid) should rank above the nominal 
amount of the Bank’s ordinary shares but should be repaid only after repayment in full of the Bank’s unsecured 
creditors and all other obligations having priority to the ordinary shares.  If the Bank goes into liquidation the 
depositor will not be entitled to share in any surplus available for distribution to the holders of the ordinary shares. 

 
 
 
 
 
     

20.   Called up share capital    

  2021  2020 

  £’000 
 

£’000 

 Allotted, issued and fully paid    
 4,867,000 (2020: 4,867,000) ordinary shares of £1 each 4,867  4,867 
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21.   Deferred taxation    

  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Asset in respect of timing differences:    
 Capital allowances              79   1  

 Tax losses              81   65  

 Revaluation of investment property               -    17  

 Revaluation of operating property               -    16  

 Other short term timing differences                6   7  
       

     
  166  106  

 
      

     
 The movement in the deferred tax asset was as follows:    
 Asset at 1 January 106  86  

 Origination and reversal of timing differences 43   8  

 Effect of change in deferred tax as a result of higher tax rate 30  12  
 Prior year adjustment ( 13)  - 
       

     
 Asset at 31 December 166  106  
 

      

     

 
The directors have performed an assessment of anticipated future profitability and believe that future profits will be 
sufficient to recover the deferred tax asset relating to accumulated taxable losses in full. The Chancellor of the 
Exchequer’s Budget presented in March 2016 included provisions to restrict the utilisation of pre-March 2015 taxable 
losses to 50% of taxable profits from April 2015 and to 25% of taxable profits from April 2016. The estimated period 
over which the Bank will utilise its asset is two years (2020: four years) which the directors have assessed as 
reasonable. Future increases in the main rate of corporation tax are disclosed in note 10 c) and have been reflected in 
the deferred tax asset as they had been substantively enacted by 31 December 2021. 
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22.   Commitments    
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Loans and advances to customers 7,345  4,154 

       

     
 Number of advances 28  32 

 
      

 
 

23.    Guarantees and other financial commitments 
   

  
   

 Commitments under operating lease 
   

  
   

 
The Company had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
as set out below: 

   

  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

     
 Not later than one year            154                   -   

 Later than one year and not later than five years            486                   -   

 Later than five years            364                   -   

       

     
 Total         1,004                   -   

 
      

  

   

 Capital commitments    

     
 There were no authorised and contracted capital commitments at 31 December 2021 (2020: £Nil). 
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24.   Ultimate controlling party    
     
 Lamb’s Passage Holding Limited is a holding company which owns 100% of the issued share capital of the 

Company. Although the largest shareholder in Lamb’s Passage Holding Limited is Stewardship Services (UKET) 
Limited, this company does not exercise control of Lamb's Passage Holding Limited, and consequently the directors 
consider Lamb's Passage Holding Limited to be the Company's immediate parent company and ultimate controlling 
party. 

 
 

 
25.   Related party transactions        
         
 A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business, including 

loans and deposits. Details of these related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related expense 
and income for the year are as follows: 

 
         
 a) Loans and advances to customers        
         
   Group companies 

   2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 

      
 At 1 January  269  274 

 Interest receivable  -  11 

 Loan repayments   -  ( 16) 

 Loans to customers ceasing to be related parties  ( 269)  - 

        
      

 At 31 December  -  269 
        

         
         
 There were no loans to directors during the year (2020: £nil). 

 
Loans to group companies relate to amounts due from the former parent undertaking and are secured on the property 
to which they relate, are loans with an initial term of 30 years which carry interest rates of 3.75% (2020: 3.60%) and 
no guarantees have been received. None (2020: £nil) of the interest receivable from group companies resulted from 
refinancing of those loans.  
 
No loans were written off and no provisions were recognised during the year in respect of loans advanced to related 
parties (2020: none). 
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25.   Related party transactions (continued)        
         

b) Deposits from related parties        
        

 
Directors and close 

family members 
 

Group companies 

  
 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

        

At 1 January 100  29  100  
         

123  
Deposits received 265  80                -    1,023 
Deposits repaid during the year        -  ( 9)               -    ( 1,046) 
Deposits from customers ceasing to be related parties ( 80)                 -    ( 100)               -   

            
        

At 31 December 
            

285   100   
               

-    100  
            

        
        
Deposits from directors and group companies relate to amounts due to directors and the former parent undertaking on 
normal commercial terms, with an initial term between 32 days and 2 years (2020: between call and 2 years) which carry 
interest rates that vary between 0.15% and 1.10% (2020: between 0.01% and 1.10%).  
 
There were no loans, deposits or other transactions with Lamb’s Passage Holding Limited throughout the year. 
 
See note 9 for disclosure of the directors' remuneration. 

 
 
 

  
26.   Defined contribution scheme        
         
 The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from 

those of the Company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents contributions 
payable by the Company to the fund and amounted to £200,000 (2020: 157,000). There were accrued pension costs 
at the year end of £Nil (2020: £Nil).        
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27.   Financial instruments     
      
 The Bank has the following financial instruments: 

      
 a) Financial assets     
   2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 

 Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:     
      
 Cash and balances at central banks   10,087   6,678  

      
 Loans and advances to banks  10,795   14,135  
      
 Loans and advances to customers:     
    Loans to individuals:    
       Unsecured loans to individuals               50                  -   

       Secured loans to individuals 11,063   7,074  

    Loans to SMEs (including Charities):    
       Secured loans to SMEs 42,846   40,095  

    Fully secured loans to other group companies:                -    269  
        

   53,959   47,438  

 Less: loan loss provision  ( 164)  ( 324) 
        

 Loans and advances to customers  53,795   47,114  
        
      

 Note 16 includes details of other financial assets measured at amortised cost.     

      
 b) Financial liabilities     

   2021  2020 

   £’000  £’000 

 Financial liabilities that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:    
 Customer accounts:    
    Deposits from individuals  35,051   33,542  

    Deposits from SMEs  31,617   27,645  

    Deposits from other group companies  -   100  
        

   66,668   61,287  

        
      
 Subordinated liabilities:    
    Deposits from individuals  100   650  

    Deposits from SMEs  660   780  

    Deposits from other group companies  1   1  
        

   761   1,431  

        
    
 Note 18 includes details of other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.    
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27.   Financial instruments (continued)     
     
 c) Allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivables     
      

 

Allowances for impairment losses on loans and receivables are detailed in note 12 c). There are no allowances for 
impairment losses on any other financial assets. 

 
     

 d) Financial instruments held at fair value 

 
     

 No financial instruments are held at fair value in the Bank's statement of financial position. 

 
 

 e) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

 
     

 

The Bank regularly reviews the risks affecting the business both internal and external.  These risks are, where 
possible, mitigated to minimise their probability and impact.  The principal risks arising from financial instruments 
have been identified as: capital adequacy, credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk. 
 
During the year the Bank has continued to review, update and refine its Risk Management Framework in response to 
emerging trends and the continuous reassessment of risks. 

 Capital adequacy 

 

The Bank’s regulatory capital consists of shareholders’ funds (“Core Equity Tier 1”) and subordinated liabilities 
(“Tier 2”). Shareholders’ funds, comprising ordinary shares and reserves, increased to £7,451,000 (2020: £6,771,000) 
and subordinated liabilities reduced to £761,000 (2020: £1,431,000).  These funds are prudently managed to ensure the 
Bank maintains sufficient capital for its activities.  Unforeseen events can unexpectedly erode this capital and these 
events are analysed and assessed using the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”).  This process 
stress tests the business and allocates sufficient levels of capital to cover assessed risk.  The capital is then managed 
against robust Risk Appetite measures for surplus capital, Core Tier 1 Capital and the Leverage Ratio to maintain a 
healthy margin above the regulatory and internally assessed minima.  The Bank continues to meet all the regulatory 
requirements. 

 Credit risk 

 

The Bank’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through loans and advances to customers, and investment in the 
wholesale money market. Almost all of the Bank’s customer advances are secured by collateral, provided by 
customers prior to the disbursement of loans.  Collateral for loans is usually in the form of first legal charge over 
property. The balance of collateralised outstanding loans is disclosed in note 12 a). 

 
     

 

The Bank’s main business is to lend money to customers which brings with it an inherent risk of arrears and default.  
The careful assessment of each loan application against strict credit policy guidelines together with very supportive 
and hands-on management of arrears ensures that provision for losses is able to be kept low.  The Bank’s systems 
monitor all customers who are in arrears ensuring that we can help and support where necessary.  The number of cases 
more than 60 days in arrears and in breach of contract was 1 (2020: 3) and the total balance reduced to £67,000 (2020: 
£265,000), representing 0.1% (2020: 0.6%) of the loan book. The low level of arrears has been achieved through the 
Bank’s now established policy of working closely with our clients over a long period resulting in them either finding a 
solution to reducing the arrears or deciding to sell their property. 
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27.    Financial instruments (continued) 
    

  
    

 e) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

  
    

 Credit risk (continued) 

 

To manage the credit risk associated with investing in the wholesale money market, the Bank deals only with 
counterparties of good credit standing. Exposure to any single counterparty is restricted by prudent and regularly-
reviewed limits expressed as a proportion of the Bank’s capital resources. 

      
 Liquidity risk  

 

The established Treasury policy provides a framework to minimise the risk to liquidity.  The objectives of the policy 
with regards to liquidity risk are: 
-   to maintain adequate liquidity to meet known and anticipated customer withdrawals, mortgage advances, tax 
liabilities, capital and administrative expenses; and 
-   to maintain adequate liquidity to cover unexpected cash flow imbalances 
 
The Bank continues to hold a surplus of liquid reserves.  The minimum level for these reserves is set after careful 
analysis of potential outflows and is regularly stress tested to ensure they exceed both the regulatory minimum 
requirements and the Board's minimum risk appetite limits.  

 Interest rate risk (a subset of market risk) 

 

Although the Bank does not have a trading book, it is exposed to interest rate risk in the banking book.  
 
The first and most significant component of interest rate risk is fixed rate re-pricing (or duration) risk. This is the risk 
of adverse changes to earnings and capital due to changes in interest rates. It is evaluated principally in terms of the 
sensitivity and exposure of the value of the Bank's assets and liabilities to changes in interest rates. Analysis of the 
exposure to interest rate risk is managed carefully within the Board’s risk appetite. The Bank operates a matching 
approach to financial risk management, whereby the risk arising from mismatches in re-pricing of assets and 
liabilities is managed internally through the statement of financial position. The Bank has a maximum exposure limit 
for such potential losses for a 2% parallel shift in the yield curve of 5% of own funds. The Bank's interest rate 
repricing mismatches and a sensitivity analysis are presented in section k) of this note. 

 

The second component of interest rate risk is basis risk. The Bank has exposure to basis risk due to the assets and 
liabilities / capital which re-price with reference to Bank Base Rate (“BBR”). The Board has set risk appetite limits 
against its exposure to basis risk for each type of basis risk mismatch and against the sensitivity of its net interest 
margin to basis risk. 

 

The final component of interest rate risk is optionality risk. This risk arises from the discretion that the Bank’s 
customers and counterparties have in respect of their contractual relations with the Bank in the form of financial 
instruments. There is a risk that assets and liabilities may not re-price in accordance with their contractual terms. 
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 e) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments (continued)  
  

   
  

 Interest rate risk (a subset of market risk) (continued)  
 

    
  

 The various sources of optionality risk and their mitigants are considered below:   
 

    
  

 Source of optionality risk Mitigation 

 

Prepayment risk on fixed rate loans. Early repayment charges discourage 
early repayments on fixed rate 

lending. 

 
Prepayment risk on fixed rate and notice counterparty deposits. 

Very unlikely to occur in practice as 
contractual terms generally prohibit 
early repayment by the counterparty. 

 

Early withdrawal risk on fixed term and notice customer deposits. 

Permitted only at the Bank’s absolute 
discretion and subject to loss of 
interest to maturity and material 

penalties. 

 
Early withdrawal risk on fixed term subordinated liabilities. 

Contractual terms prevent repayment 
unless approval granted by the Board 

and the PRA. 

 
Drawdown of pipeline lending commitments. 

All assumed within earliest re-pricing 
time bucket (0 – 3 months) with no 

behavioural assumptions. 

 
Withdrawal of customer deposits held at call. 

All assumed within earliest re-pricing 
time bucket (0 – 3 months) with no 

behavioural assumptions. 

 
    

  
 Optionality risk is not considered material to the Bank’s current business model due to the mitigations noted above. 

       

 The Bank uses the following sensitivity analysis to manage the interest rate risk in the banking book: 

       

 

Component of interest rate risk Measure 

  

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 

 

% of 
own 
funds 

£'000 % of 
own 
funds 

£'000 

 Fixed rate re-pricing risk 

Economic value at risk for a 2% parallel 
shift in the Bank's yield curve, as a % of own 

funds 1.35% 
           

103  1.87% 
           

139  

 Basis risk 

Change in annual net interest income from 
base rate linked assets and liabilities for a 

0.5% shift in Bank Base Rate, as a % of own 
funds 1.64% 

           
126  1.87% 

           
139  

      

 

Own funds comprises the Bank's regulatory capital, and includes ordinary share capital, retained earnings, revaluation 
reserve, subordinated liabilities (amortised over last five years' residual maturity) less deductions for intangible assets and 
certain deferred tax assets. The amount of own funds at 31 December 2021 was £7.7 million (2020: £7.4 million). 
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 e) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

  
 Interest rate risk (a subset of market risk) (continued) 

        

 

Economic value at risk is calculated by examining details of interest sensitive assets and liabilities to 
establish when they will next re-price (i.e. be subject to a change in interest rate), and then tabulating 
those which re-price within set time periods (known as "time buckets", within which all items re-pricing 
are grouped together). Interest rate sensitive items are those assets and liabilities that are subject to 
contractual change in interest rates, or which mature (fall due for repayment) on a particular date. The 
sums of each time bucket (known as "gaps") are then discounted into present values using a yield curve. 
The present values are then aggregated to calculate the net present value of the Bank's statement of 
financial position. A 2% parallel shift in interest rates, consistent with the PRA's FSA017 methodology, 
is then applied to the yield curve in order to calculate the impact on net present value. This impact is 
referred to as the economic value at risk. 

        

 

In order to calculate the Bank's exposure to fixed rate re-pricing risk the Bank uses its average cost of 
funding (personal and SME deposits and subordinated liabilities) as a flat yield curve. A comparison has 
been performed against a 10 year yield curve based on UK government bonds, and the exposure value 
was calculated at 1.63% less than (2020: 1.44% more than) that calculated using the flat funding cost 
yield curve, which is not considered to be material.  

        

 
Exposure to basis risk is measured by calculating the change in annual net interest income from base rate 
linked assets and liabilities for a 0.5% shift in Bank Base Rate, as a % of own funds. 

        

 

For both fixed rate re-pricing risk and basis risk the Board has set a maximum risk appetite of 5% of own 
funds, or £383,000 at 31 December 2021 (2020: £372,000). The Board consider that any exposure in 
excess of this level would represent an unacceptable risk. The exposures at 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020 are as shown in the table above. 

 

     

  
 Credit risk   

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is best represented by carrying value for the following classes of 
financial instrument: 
-   Cash and balances at central banks 
-   Loans and advances to banks 
-   Loans and advances to customers:  
    -   Unsecured loans to individuals 
    -   Unsecured loans to SMEs 
-   Other financial assets  
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 e) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

  

 Credit risk (continued) 

 

      

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for secured loans and advances to customers before and after collateral 
held as security is shown below: 

    2021  2020 

    £’000  £’000 
      
 Secured loans to individuals   11,063   7,074  

 Less: collateral held   ( 11,063)  ( 7,074) 

 Exposure after collateral   -  - 
      
 Secured loans to SMEs   42,846   40,095  

 Less: collateral held   ( 42,846)  ( 40,088) 

 Exposure after collateral   
              

-    7  
      

 
Fully secured loans to other group 
companies   

              
-    269  

 Less: collateral held   
              

-    ( 269) 

 Exposure after collateral   
              

-    
- 

      

 Total exposure after collateral   
              

-    7 
       

 

Collateral held represents a first legal charge over UK commercial or residential property owned by the 
borrower. The property values are indexed using the MSCI regional UK Monthly Property Index for commercial 
property and the HM Land Registry regional UK House Price Index for residential property. The collateral 
amounts shown are restricted to the amount of the corresponding loans since any surplus on sale of the collateral 
in excess of each loan balance would be returned to the borrower.  
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f) The Bank's financial assets may be classified into the following two categories: 
 
- Neither past due nor impaired 
- Individually impaired 

    2021  2020 

   

 
Cash and 
balances 

at central 
banks  

Loans and 
advances 
to banks 

Loans and 
advances 

to 
customers 

 
Cash and 
balances 

at central 
banks  

Loans and 
advances 
to banks 

Loans and 
advances 

to 
customers 

   
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

   
        

 
Neither past due nor 
impaired  

        
10,087  

        
10,795          53,842   

          
6,678  

        
14,135          46,310  

 Individually impaired                   -                   -                117                   -                   -             1,127  
 

  
       

 
      

 
Gross 

         
10,087  

        
10,795          53,959   

          
6,678  

        
14,135          47,437  

 
Less allowance for 
impairment: 

 

   

     

 Individual impairment                  -                   -   ( 50)                  -                   -   ( 212) 

 Collective allowance                  -                   -   ( 114)                  -                   -   ( 111) 

 
Total allowance for 
impairment  

                -                   -   
( 164)  

                -                   -   
( 323) 

 Net  
        

10,087  
        

10,795          53,795   
          

6,678  
        

14,135          47,114  

 
        

  

 

Specific loan loss provisions are made against the carrying amount of loans and advances that are identified as not 
fully recoverable to reduce these loans and advances to their recoverable amounts. Specific provisions are made for 
loans and advances to customers where arrears exceed 90 days’ contractual payments ("past due") or management 
judge that, due to other historical indications of impairment, the probability of default occurring is significant and an 
exposure to potential loss exists after realisation of security at a forced sale discount. Factors increasing the probability 
of default include cases in forbearance, high levels of other indebtedness, erratic payment history, declining income or 
membership levels and governance issues affecting the viability of the borrower. Customer loans which are in arrears 
or are classified as high risk for other reasons are monitored closely and reported monthly to the Credit Committee, 
who will decide whether any additional specific provisions are required. 
 
A collective allowance has been included for Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”) losses, which is maintained for 
customer loans which are likely to have incurred losses triggered by historical events but which have not yet been 
reported and uniquely identified by the Bank. The IBNR provision has been separated into two elements: 
unincorporated borrowers and incorporated borrowers and a provision has been recognised for each type of borrower 
which reflects the level of risk assessed by management. 
 
Movements in the loan loss provision are recognised in the income statement.  If in a subsequent year the amount 
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the write down, the write-down or 
provision is reversed through the profit and loss account. 
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 g) Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 

 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the Bank's 
internal credit grading system for loans and advances to customers, and by reference to external credit ratings and 
published Pillar 3 disclosures for cash and balances at central banks and loans and advances to banks. Institutions with an 
external credit rating will only be considered if they have a minimum short term rating of Fitch F2 and Moodys P2 at the 
time of placing funds. Unrated institutions, i.e. institutions without an external credit rating, will only be considered if 
their Pillar 3 disclosures indicate that they have a minimum of £10 million Tier 1 capital which shall not be less than 
160% of that institution's Pillar 1 capital requirement. Unrated Banks will only be considered if minimum capital and 
liquidity criteria are met as specified in the Bank's Treasury Policy. Sector limits are in place to avoid concentrations to 
different institutional sectors. Pillar 3 disclosures are mandated by the EU Capital Requirements Regulations ("CRR" and, 
from 1 January 2022 "CRR2"). 

           
           

     Loans and advances to customers Cash 
and 

balances 
at 

central 
banks  

Loans and 
advances 
to banks 

     

Loans to individuals Loans to SMEs 
(including Charities) 

Loans to 
other 

group 
companies 

Loans and 
advances 

to 
customers 

     Unsecured Secured Unsecured Secured Secured 

 
31 December 
2021 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

          
 

        

 

Credit Grade 5: 
Internal default 
(arrears 60 to 90 
days)               -   

              
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -                 -                 -   

 

Credit Grades 2 
to 4: High risk 
loans and arrears 
up to 60 days               -   

              
-                 -   

        
1,205                -           1,205                -                 -   

 

Credit Grade 1: 
Up to date and 
not high risk               -   

      
10,996                -   

      
41,641                -         52,637                -                 -   

 

Minimum short 
Term Rating 
Fitch F2 / 
Moodys P2               -   

              
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -   

      
10,087          2,222  

 
Unrated 
institutions                 -   

              
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -                 -           8,573  

 Total               -   
      

10,996                -   
      

42,846                -         53,842  
      

10,087        10,795  
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 g) Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired (continued) 

           
     Loans and advances to customers Cash 

and 
balances 

at 
central 
banks  

Loans 
and 

advances 
to banks 

     

Loans to individuals Loans to SMEs 
(including Charities) 

Loans to 
other 

group 
companies 

Loans 
and 

advances 
to 

customers 
     Unsecured Secured Unsecured Secured Secured 

 
31 December 
2020 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

          
 

        

 

Credit Grade 5: 
Internal default 
(arrears 60 to 90 
days)               -   

            
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -   

              
-                 -   

 

Credit Grades 2 to 
4: High risk loans 
and arrears up to 
60 days               -   

              
-                 -   

        
4,564                -           4,564  

              
-                 -   

 

Credit Grade 1: Up 
to date and not 
high risk               -   

        
7,008                -   

      
34,469             269        41,746  

              
-                 -   

 

Minimum short 
Term Rating Fitch 
F2 / Moodys P2               -   

              
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -   

        
6,678  

        
5,018  

 
Unrated 
institutions               -   

              
-                 -   

              
-                 -                 -   

              
-   

        
9,117  

 Total               -   
        

7,008                -   
      

39,033             269        46,310  
        

6,678  
      

14,135  
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 h) Analysis of financial assets that are individually determined to be impaired as at the end of the reporting year 

           

 

Note f) describes the circumstances where the Bank considers that financial assets are individually determined to be 
impaired. Collateral held represents a first legal charge over UK commercial or residential property owned by the 
borrower. The property values are indexed using the MSCI regional UK Monthly Property Index for commercial 
property and the HM Land Registry regional UK House Price Index for residential property, which are considered to 
represent fair value. 

           

         Loans and advances to customers 

       

Loans to individuals Loans to SMEs 
(including Charities) 

Loans to 
other 

group 
companies 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

         Unsecured Secured Unsecured Secured Secured 

 31 December 2021 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

        
 

    

 Book value of individually impaired loans              50           67                -               -                 -              117  

 Provisions for individually impaired loans              50              -                 -               -                 -                50  

 Indexed value of collateral held as security               -            67                -               -                 -                67  

 31 December 2020 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

        
 

    

 Book value of individually impaired loans               -            66                -       1,061                -           1,127  

 Provisions for individually impaired loans               -               -                 -          323                -              323  

 Indexed value of collateral held as security               -            66                -       1,053                -           1,119  
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 i) Maturity analysis for non-derivative financial and non-financial liabilities 

           

 

The following is a residual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial and non-financial liabilities based on 
contractual maturity dates. The amounts represent undiscounted cash flows, and therefore include future interest 
payable between the statement of financial position date and the contractual maturity dates and so will not match the 
carrying value of the instruments. Amounts on demand and amounts with no specific maturity date have been included 
without the addition of any future interest payable. There were no derivative financial liabilities. 

           

       Repayable: 

 

      On 
demand 

In not 
more than 

three 
months 

Over three 
months 
but not 

more than 
one year 

Over one 
year but 

not more 
than five 

years 

In more 
than five 

years 

No specific 
maturity 

date 

Total 

 31 December 2021 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       
   

  

 Customer accounts         4,707        43,234        12,594        6,255                -                 -        66,790  

 Other liabilities            661                -                 -                 -                 -                 -            661  

 Subordinated liabilities               -                 -                35           839                -                61           935  

 

Total liabilities and 
total shareholders' 
funds         5,368        43,234        12,629  

        
7,094                -                61  

      
68,386  

 31 December 2020 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       
   

  

 Customer accounts         4,382        37,201        13,047        6,865                -                 -   61,495  

 Other liabilities            292                -                 -                 -                -                 -            292  

 Subordinated liabilities               -                 -              738           140           734               61        1,673  

 

Total liabilities and 
total shareholders' 
funds         4,674        37,201        13,785  

        
7,005  

           
734               61  

      
63,460  
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 j) Capital management 

            
The Bank's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
 
Consistent with others in the industry and the prior year, the Bank monitors its capital as assessed by CRD IV, 
specifically the levels of minimum surplus capital over the PRA's Total Capital Requirement ("TCR") plus applicable 
capital buffers. These buffers include the PRA buffer and the CRD IV combined buffer (the capital conservation 
buffer and the countercyclical capital buffer). The TCR amounted to £5.1m at 31 December 2021 (2020: £4.8m).  
 
The Bank calculates its internal capital adequacy assessment ("ICA") in parallel with the PRA's TCR assessment. The 
ICA represents the Board's own assessment of capital requirements, which may be higher or lower than the PRA's 
TCR requirements. The buffer requirements are the same under both the external TCR and the internal ICA basis. 
 
The Bank's various forms of capital (or "own funds") are described in section e) of this note. 
 
In order to adjust the Bank's level of capital resources held, it may amend the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or holders of subordinated liabilities or issue new shares or subordinated 
liabilities. In order to adjust the Bank's level of capital requirements it must change the amount of risk weighted assets 
as specified by CRD IV. The Bank may reduce the amount of risk weighted assets by repaying loans and advances or 
moving liquid funds from higher risk weighted instruments to lower risk weighted instruments, such as the Bank of 
England reserve account. To minimise risk weighted assets new lending may be targeted in lower risk weighted asset 
classes such as residential lending rather than commercial lending. 
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j) Capital management (continued)            
 

The Bank's minimum surplus capital over TCR and ICA (without buffers) during the year, together with regulatory 
capital ratios at the year end, was as follows: 

        2021  2020 

        £'000  £'000 

           
           

 Minimum surplus capital during the year over TCR only     2,182  
          

1,846  

 Minimum surplus capital during the year over ICA only     2,187  
          

2,053  

           
 Capital ratios          

 Common Equity Tier 1 capital as a % of total risk exposure (min 4.5%)    16.97%  16.64% 

 Tier 1 capital as a % of total risk exposure (min 6.0%) 16.97%  16.64% 

 Own funds as a % of total risk exposure (min 8.0%) 18.84%  18.79% 

           

 
The Bank complied with the CRD IV capital requirements during the current and prior year and is expected to do so 
throughout the business planning period. 

           

 

The Bank's stated internal risk appetite for capital is to maintain surplus capital of at least 4% over the regulatory 
requirements (TCR plus buffers and ICA plus buffers). In addition the Bank's risk appetite is to maintain a Core 
Equity Tier 1 ratio of at least 14.50% and a Total capital ratio of at least 17.50%. 
 
The Bank remained within its risk appetite for capital during the current and prior year and is expected to remain so 
throughout the business planning period. 

           

 

The increase between the minimum surplus capital over TCR and ICA (without capital buffers) during 2020 and the 
minimum during 2021 was caused by the addition of Tier 1 capital during 2020. The increase in the year end Common 
Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 capital and Own funds ratios between 2020 and 2021 was primarily caused by the realised 
surplus on sale of the investment property. 
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 k) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book 

         
 The Bank did not enter into any derivative contracts during the year (2020: none). 

         
 Interest rate risk – interest rate sensitivity gap analysis 

 The table below summarises interest rate repricing mismatches at 31 December 2021.  Items are allocated to time bands by 
reference to next interest rate repricing date.  

 
        

  

Not more 
than three 

months 

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than six 
months 

More 
than 

six 
months 
but not 

more 
than 
one 

year 

More 
than 
one 

year 
but less 

than 
five 

years 

More 
than 
five 

years 

No 
specific 

repricing 
date Total 

  
  
  

  
 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 ASSETS 
       

 Cash and balances at central banks      10,086                 -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-                 1       10,087  

 Loans and advances to banks      10,786                 -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-                 9       10,795  

 Loans and advances to customers      43,957  
            

367  
          

974  
       

6,728  
             

-          1,769       53,795  

 Intangible fixed assets              -                  -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-               83              83  

 Tangible fixed assets              -                  -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-             268            268  

 Other assets              -                  -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-             347            347  

 
        

 
Deferred tax assets 

             -                   -   
             

-              -   
            

-             166          166  
         

 
TOTAL ASSETS      64,829 

            
367  

          
974  

       
6,728  

             
-          2,643       75,541  

 
 

              

 LIABILITIES 
       

 Customer accounts      (47,830)  
         

(6,167)  
       

(6,395)  
       

(6,188)  
             

-   
            

(88)  
     

(66,668)  

 Other liabilities              -                  -   
             

-   
          

(700)  
             

-   
         

(722)  
       

(1,422)  

 Shareholder's funds              -                  -   
             

-   
             

-   
             

-   
       

(7,451)  
       

(7,451)  

 
 

    
     

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S 
FUNDS      (47,830)  

         
(6,167)  

       
(6,395)  

       
(6,888)  

             
-   

       
(8,261)  

     
(75,541)  

 
 

              

 Interest rate sensitivity gap 
     16,999  ( 5,800) ( 5,421) ( 160) -  ( 5,618)              -   

 
 

              

 Cumulative gap 
     16,999  11,199  5,778  5,618  5,618               -                -   



Kingdom Bank Limited 
 

75 
 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

27.   Financial instruments (continued) 

         
 k) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (continued) 

         
 The following table summarises interest rate repricing mismatches at 31 December 2020. 

 
        

  

Not 
more 
than 

three 
months 

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than six 
months 

More 
than six 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 

More 
than 
one 

year 
but less 

than 
five 

years 

More 
than 
five 

years 

No 
specific 

repricing 
date Total 

  
  
  

  
 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 ASSETS 
       

 
Cash and balances at central 
banks 

       
6,678                 -                -   

             
-   

             
-                -   

       
6,678  

 Loans and advances to banks 
     

14,121                 -                -   
             

-   
             

-               14  
     

14,135  

 Loans and advances to customers 
     

38,658                 -   
          

734  
       

5,751  
             

-          1,971  
     

47,114  

 Intangible fixed assets              -                  -                -   
             

-   
             

-               69  
            

69  

 Investment property              -                  -                -   
             

-   
             

-             667  
          

667  

 Tangible fixed assets              -                  -                -   
             

-   
             

-             730  
          

730  

 Other assets              -                  -                -   
             

-   
             

-             282  
          

282  
         
 Deferred tax assets - - - - - 106 106 
 

        

 TOTAL ASSETS 
     

59,457                 -   
          

734  
       

5,751  
             

-          3,839  
     

69,781  

 
 

              

 LIABILITIES 
       

 Customer accounts 
     

(41,678)  
         

(6,225)  
       

(6,749)  
       

(6,484)  
             

-   
          

(151)  
     

(61,287)  

 Other liabilities              -                  -   
          

(670)  
             

-   
          

(700)  
          

(353)  
       

(1,723)  

 Shareholder's funds              -                  -                -   
             

-   
             

-   
       

(6,771)  
       

(6,771)  
 

 
    

     

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S 
FUNDS 

     
(41,678)  

         
(6,225  

       
(7,419)  

       
(6,484)  

          
(700)  

       
(7,275)  

     
(69,781)  

 
 

              

 
Interest rate sensitivity gap      

17,779  ( 6,225) ( 6,685) ( 733) ( 700) ( 3,436)              -   

 
 

            
 

 
Cumulative gap 

     
17,779  

       
11,554  

       
4,869  4,136  3,436               -                -   
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 l) Net debt reconciliation 

   

1 January 
2021 

£'000 
Cash flows 

£'000 

Other non-
cash 

changes 
£'000 

31 December 
2021 

£'000 

 Cash and balances at central banks   6,678  3,400  9  10,087  

 

Loans and advances to banks repayable on demand or 
in not more than three months 12,883  ( 2,969) 29  9,943  

 Subordinated liabilities  ( 1,431) 740  ( 70) ( 761) 

       

 Net debt  
            

18,130  
              

1,171  ( 32)              19,269  
 
 

28.    Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities excluding tax 

 
 

   
  2021  2020 

  £’000  £’000 

 Profit / (loss) for the financial year 680  ( 24) 

 Tax on profit / (loss) on ordinary activities 23  ( 14) 

 
      

 Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 703  ( 38) 

 
 

 
 

 
 Amortisation of intangible assets 33  39 

 Depreciation of tangible assets 47  42 

 Loss on disposal of fixed assets 10                 -   

 Profit on sale of investment property ( 634)                 -   

 Increase in loan loss provision 24  77 
 (Decrease) / increase in non-cash items ( 520)  158 

 Increase / (decrease) in loans and advances to banks 400  ( 1,251) 

 Increase in loans and advances to customers ( 6,705)  ( 1,852) 

 Increase in customer accounts 5,381  9,909 

 Working capital movements:  
 

 
  - (increase) / decrease in other assets ( 175)  114 

  - increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 286  ( 14) 

 
 

 
 

 
 Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities ( 630)  7,026 

 
 

 
 

 
 

29.      Post balance sheet events        
        

On 31 January 2022, the Company issued 1,800,000 ordinary £1 shares at par fully paid to its immediate parent company 
Lamb’s Passage Holding Limited, raising £1,800,000 of CET1 capital.       
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